FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK COUNTY OF NEW YORK

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, BY LETITIA JAMES, ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,

Plaintiff,

INDEX NO.: 451625/2020

-against-

THE NATIONAL RIFLE ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA, WAYNE LAPIERRE, WILSON PHILLIPS, JOHN FRAZER, and JOSHUA POWELL,

Defendants.

# AMENDED ANSWER OF THE NATIONAL RIFLE ASSOCIATION OF AMERICATO THE SECOND AMENDED VERIFIED COMPLAINT

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	6
PART ONE – THE PARTIES	8
PART TWO – JURISDICTION AND VENUE	10
PART THREE – APPLICABLE LAW	10
PART FOUR – THE NRA'S HISTORY AND INTERNAL GOVERNANCE	14
PART FIVE – DEFENDANTS' VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK LAW	29
CAUSES OF ACTION	145
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION – FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF EPTL 8-1.4 (AGAI DEFENDANT NRA)	
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DU UNDER N-PCL §§ 717 AND 720 AND REMOVAL UNDER N- PCL §§ 706(d) A 714(c) (AGAINST DEFENDANT LAPIERRE)	ND
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUT TO THE NRA UNDER N-PCL §§ 717 AND 720 AND REMOVAL UNDER N-PC §§ 706(d) AND 714(c) (AGAINST DEFENDANT FRAZER)	ĽL
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTO THE NRA UNDER N-PCL §§ 717 AND 720 (AGAINST DEFENDANT PHILLIPS)	
FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUT'TO THE NRA UNDER N-PCL §§ 717 AND 720 (AGAINST DEFENDANT POWELL)	
SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF EPTL § 8-1.4 (AGAINST DEFENDANT LAPIERRE)	. 148
SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF EPTL § 8-1.4 (AGAINST DEFENDANT FRAZER)	149
EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF EPTL § 8-1.4 (AGAINST DEFENDANT PHILLIPS)	. 150
NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF EPTL § 8-1.4 (AGAINST DEFENDANT POWELL)	150
TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION – FOR ALLEGED WRONGFUL RELATED-PART TRANSACTIONS – N-PCL §§ 112(a)(10), 715(f) AND EPTL § 8-1.9(c)(4) (AGAINST DEFENDANT LAPIERRE)	
ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION – FOR ALLEGED WRONGFUL RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS – N-PCL §§ 112(a)(10), 715(f) AND EPTL § 8-1.9(c)(4) (AGAINST DEFENDANT POWELL)	

## FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020
RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION – FOR ALLEGED WRONGFUL RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS – N-PCL §§ 112(a)(10), 715(f) AND EPTL § 8-1.9(c)(4)(AGAINST DEFENDANT PHILLIPS)	
THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION – FOR ALLEGED WRONGFUL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS – N-PCL §§ 112(a)(10), 715(f) AND EPTL § 8-1.9(c)(4) (AGAINST DEFENDANT NRA)	4)
FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION – FOR ALLEGED VIOLATION OF THE WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS OF N-PCL § 715-b AND EPTL § 8-1.9 (AGAINST DEFENDANT NRA)	. 154
FIFTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED FALSE FILINGS UNDER EXECUTIVE LAW §§ 172-d(1) AND 175(2)(d) (AGAINST DEFENDANT NRA AND FRAZER).	. 154
DEFENSES AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES	
A. ADDITIONAL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS	
B. THE NRA'S DEFENSES AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES	. 157
INTERVENING AND SUPERSEDING ACTIONS	. 158
PAYMENT, ACCORD AND SATISFACTION	. 158
RATIFICATION	
DE MINIMIS TRANSACTIONS	. 158
DE MINIMIS FINANCIAL INTEREST	. 159
ORDINARY COURSE OF BUSINESS EXEMPTION	. 159
CLASS OF BENEFICIARIES EXEMPTION	. 159
LACK OF AUTHORITY	. 159
RELATIVE CULPABILITY	. 159
GOOD FAITH	. 160
BUSINESS JUDGMENT RULE	. 160
NON-IMPUTATION	. 160
THIRD PARTY ACTS AND OMISSIONS	. 161
MOOTNESS	. 161
DEMAND FUTILITY	. 161
FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION	. 162
DUE PROCESS	. 163
DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE	. 163
LACK OF STANDING BASED ON BIAS OR MALICIOUS OR BAD FAITH INTENT	
COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL/RES JUDICATA	. 164
FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM	. 164

### FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

UNCLEAN HANDS 165 SELECTIVE ENFORCEMENT OF NEW YORK LAW ...... 165 ILLEGAL RETALIATION FOR EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OF FREEDOMS OF SPEECH 165 ILLEGAL RETALIATION FOR EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OF FREEDOMS OF ASSOCIATION 166 PLAINTIFF'S ACTION IS MOTIVATED BY HER POLITICAL ANIMUS LACK OF MATERIALITY 166 FAILURE TO ADD NECESSARY AND INDISPENSABLE PARTIES....... 167 EXTRA-TERRITORIALITY 167 THE NYAG DOES NOT ALLEGE THAT THE NRA HOLDS PROPERTY FOR CHARITABLE PURPOSES IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK...... 167 THE NYAG DOES NOT ALLEGE THAT THE NRA ADMINISTERS PROPERTY FOR CHARITABLE PURPOSES IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK. 

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

Defendant, the National Rifle Association of America (the "NRA" or the "Association"), by and through its undersigned counsel, hereby files an Amended Answer, as of right (pursuant to CPLR § 3025(a)), to the Second Amended Verified Complaint (the "Complaint") filed in the above-captioned action (the "Action") by Plaintiff the People of the State of New York, by Letitia James, Attorney General of the State of New York (the "NYAG"), as follows.

Even before assuming office, and without a shred of evidence that the NRA had done anything wrong, Attorney General James vowed to weaponize the supervisory powers of the NYAG to destroy one of the nation's oldest, largest civil rights organizations. Her impetus was nakedly political: to weaken the NRA as a political force in advance of the 2020 elections. In order to deliver on James' corrupt campaign promise, the Complaint abandons any pretense of impartial regulatory oversight. It sought dissolution—a corporate death sentence—based on allegations which, even if true, could never justify that remedy. It aligns the NYAG shamelessly with vendors, and other faithless fiduciaries, that stole millions from the charity the NYAG purports to supervise. Worse, it purposefully misconstrues and elides testimony from courageous whistleblowers who came forward to help protect the NRA—not destroy it. These whistleblowers testified repeatedly to the NYAG during the course of her "investigation" that they were protected when they came forward, and their concerns addressed. The NYAG distorts the narrative of their involvement and deliberately omits such testimony from the Complaint.

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The NRA objects to the caption of the Complaint on the ground that this action is purportedly brought in the name of "the people" rather than "the state." See N.Y. CPLR 1301 ("An action brought in behalf of the people ... shall be brought in the name of the state."); New York ex rel. Boardman v Natl. R.R. Passenger Corp., 233 F.R.D. 259, 265 (N.D.N.Y. 2006) ("Although New York's general statutory scheme is for the Attorney General to prosecute lawsuits,... the case has to be prosecuted in the name of the State of New York.") (emphasis added). The NRA further notes that the caption incorrectly references "The National Rifle Association of America, Inc.;" although the NRA is a corporation, it is not denominated "Inc."

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

Notably, in her public campaign trail statements about the NRA, James made it clear that she intended to harm the NRA because she claimed to disagree with the substance of the NRA's constitutionally protected political speech. For example, on October 25, 2018, James stated that the NRA "is an organization that needs to be held accountable for the destruction and the loss of lives ... across our nation."<sup>2</sup>

Similarly, on or about November 8, 2018, James tweeted: "Let me be clear: when I take office I will investigate the non-profit status of the NRA & take every legal step I can to help ensure another life isn't lost to senseless gun violence. #GunControlNow."<sup>3</sup>

As recently as October 29, 2021, James touted her "work[] to eliminate the NRA" as a reason why voters should support her now-suspended candidacy for New York Governor.<sup>4</sup>

Moreover, in February 2019, after James became Attorney General but before she authorized her office's formal investigation of the NRA, senior representatives of her office met with representatives of Everytown for Gun Safety Action Fund ("Everytown") about the NRA. This was an in-person meeting in NYAG's offices in New York. It lasted about an hour.

According to Everytown's web site and a recorded statement by its president, Everytown is a 501(c)(4) organization that "was created to serve as a counterweight to the NRA" that "focuses on advocacy and legislative work and fights to end gun violence with every legal tool available." A representative of NYAG testified under oath that the purpose of the meeting between the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://liherald.com/stories/nassau-protests-nra-fundraiser,107617 (Oct. 25, 2018) (reporting that after learning that the NRA Foundation was going to host a Friends of the NRA fundraiser in New Hyde Park, "Letitia James, New York City Public Advocate and Democratic nominee for attorney general, hosted a Gun Violence Roundtable in Mineola the morning of the fundraiser in reaction to the [Friends of the NRA] event').

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> @TishJames Twitter post (November 8, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> https://ijr.com/new-york-attorney-general-letitia-james-run-governor) (October 29, 2021) (last visited January 9, 2022).

ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

representatives of James's office and Everytown was for Everytown to advise the NYAG of a

complaint about the NRA's 2017 IRS Form 990 filing.

Notably, representatives of the NYAG at the meeting included the Chief of the NYAG's

Charities Bureau (the person who verified the NYAG's complaint against the NRA) and then-

Assistant Attorney General Laura Wood. Assistant Attorney General William Wang testified that

at the time of the meeting Ms. Wood served as "an Assistant Attorney General within the executive

division of the [NYAG's] office."

According to the same testimony of Assistant Attorney General William Wang, Everytown

sent five people to the meeting, including its Senior Director of Community Safety Initiatives and

none other than AAG Sheehan's predecessor as the head of NYAG's Charities Bureau, Jason

Lilien. At the time of the meeting, Everytown retained Mr. Lilien to serve as its outside counsel.

Two months after the meeting with representatives of the NRA's political "counterweight"

about the NRA's regulatory filings, Attorney General James authorized an investigation of the

NRA. After the NRA sought records related to the meeting from the NYAG and Everytown, both

moved for a protective order, claiming in part that discovery was stayed and Everytown also

claiming that compliance with the request for documents would be unduly burdensome. James

commenced a sweeping, costly, invasive, and concertedly publicized investigation of the NRA

concerning types of purported misconduct that have never incited the same hostility for similarly

situated, comparator charities. For example, years before James took office, a public ranking of

America's "50 Worst Charities" listed multiple New York domiciled entities whose leadership

allegedly "t[ook] multiple salaries, secretly paid themselves consulting fees or arranged

fundraising contracts with friends"—yet the public record discloses no evidence of any

enforcement action against these charities by the NYAG, let alone enforcement action

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

choregraphed, timed, and hyped with the goal of impairing the charities' political speech or mission impact.<sup>5</sup> And other charities registered to solicit funds in New York have undergone highly publicized scandals with allegations resembling or exceeding those here—yet the public record discloses no evidence that the NYAG took enforcement action to redress or punish inaccuracies in their CHAR500 filings, or made efforts to block future solicitation in this State.<sup>6</sup>

In addition, the NYAG's false narrative has been fatally undermined, and her claims rendered utterly meritless, by the findings of a Texas federal bankruptcy court following a twelveday trial, featuring 23 witnesses, in which the NYAG asserted the identical allegations in this proceeding, in an effort to advance an identical false narrative. Judge Harlan D. Hale found that by 2018, the NRA had undertaken a "course correction"—before the Attorney General was even elected—and that the Association's CFO had credibly testified that "the change that has occurred within the NRA over the past few years could not have occurred without the active support of" NRA Executive Vice President and CEO Wayne LaPierre. Significantly, the court commended the NRA for elevating one of the certified public accountants who came forward to raise concerns about the faithless fiduciaries, Sonya Rowling, as its Chief Financial Officer. Those are not the actions of an organization that withholds protection from whistleblowers; they are precisely the

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Kris Hundley and Kendall Taggart, America's 50 worst charities rake in nearly \$1 billion for corporate fundraisers, TAMPA BAY TIMES (June 6., 2013), https://www.tampabay.com/news/nation/americas-50-worstcharities-rake-in-nearly-1-billion-for-corporate/2339540/. Upon information and belief, the following listed charities are registered in New York: Firefighters Charitable Foundation; the Veterans Assistance Foundation; and, the United Breast Cancer Foundation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Such charities include the Southern Poverty Law Center, FJC, and the Black Lives Matter Global Foundation. See Bob Moser, The Reckoning of Morris Dees and the Southern Poverty Law Center, THE NEW YORKER (March 21, 2019), https://www.newyorker.com/news/news-desk/the-reckoning-of-morris-dees-and-the-southern-poverty-lawcenter; Aaron Sibarium, Teens Take Charge Likely Violating Federal Tax Law, Experts Say, THE WASHINGTON FREE BEACON (June 15, 2021), https://freebeacon.com/campus/teens-take-charge-likely-violating-federal-tax-lawexperts-say/; Sean Campbell, The BLM Mystery: Where did the money go?, NEW YORK MAGAZINE (January 31, 2022), https://nymag.com/intelligencer/2022/01/black-lives-matter-finances.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Court dubbed Ms. Rowling a "champion of compliance." Ms. Rowling has since been elected Treasurer by the Board of Directors on May 2, 2021.

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

opposite. Dispositive of James's claims here, the court found that "the NRA now understands the importance of compliance," and it "can pay its creditors, continue to fulfill its mission, continue to improve its governance and internal controls, [and] contest dissolution" in this Action.

So troubling is this lawsuit that it has been condemned as overtly unconstitutional by sixteen states, 8 multiple scholars, 9 and the ACLU. 10 Politically motivated and born of the NYAG's threats even before she assumed office, this proceeding is counterproductive to any legitimate charitable-supervisory effort. Most importantly, for all who love our democratic institutions, it will fail.

#### I. **ANSWER**

Except as otherwise expressly admitted in this Answer, the NRA denies each and every allegation contained or implied anywhere in the Complaint whether in the body, titles, headings, sub-headings, footnotes or otherwise. To the extent the NRA uses terms herein which are defined

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See NRA v. James, Civ. No. 1:20-cv-00889-MAD-TWD (Dkt. No. 25) (Brief of States of Arkansas, Alaska, Georgia, Idaho, Mississippi, Oklahoma, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Missouri, Ohio, South Carolina, South Dakota, Texas, Utah and West Virginia as Amici Curiae in Support of Plaintiff and in Opposition to Dismissal) ("The New York AG's actions threaten the civil rights of five million members, including citizens of the Amici states.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See, e.g., Ruth Marcus, The NRA is a Cesspool. That Doesn't Mean It Should Be Dissolved, WASH. POST. (Opinion, Aug. 9, 2020), https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2020/08/09/nra-is-cesspool-that-doesnt-mean-it-shouldbe-dissolved/; Noah Feldman, New York's Attorney General Shouldn't Dismantle the NRA, BLOOMBERG (Opinion, Aug. 6, 2020), https://www.bloomberg.com/opinion/articles/2020-08-06/new-york-s- attorney-general-shouldn-tdismantle-nra-in-lawsuit; David Cole, The NRA Has a Right to Exist, WALL ST. J. (Opinion, Aug. 26, 2020), https://www.wsj.com/articles/the-nra-has-a-right-to-exist-11598457143?mod= opinion\_lead\_pos7 ("The American Civil Liberties Union rarely finds itself on the same side as the National Rifle Association in policy debates or political disputes. Still, we are disturbed by New York Attorney General Letitia James's recent effort to dissolve the NRA"); Jonathan Turley, The Tragic Irony of the New York State Lawsuit Against the NRA, THE HILL (Opinion, Aug. 8, 2020), https://thehill.com/opinion/judiciary/511155-thetragic-irony-of-the-new-york-state-lawsuit-against-the-nationalrifle-association ("Trying to dissolve an organization engaged in political speech should not occur absent overwhelming proof that it is a criminal enterprise, which is why this has never happened with a group like the NRA."); Alan Z. Rozenshtein, The Attempt to Dissolve the NRA Threatens Democratic Norms, LAWFARE (Opinion, Aug. 11, 2020), https://www.lawfareblog.com/attempt-dissolve-nra-threatens-democratic-norms("I personally can't stand [the NRA] [b]ut that said James's attempt to dissolve the NRA in its entirety is a violation of key democratic and ruleof-law norms.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See David Cole, The NRA Has a Right to Exist, WALL ST. J. (Aug. 26, 2020), https://www.wsj.com/articles/thenra-has-a-right-to-exist-11598457143 ("The American Civil Liberties Union rarely finds itself on the same side as the National Rifle Association[,] [s]till, we are disturbed by New York Attorney General Letitia James's recent effort to dissolve the NRA[.] You may have your own opinions about the NRA, but all Americans should be concerned about this sort of overreach.")

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

in the Complaint, that use is not an acknowledgment or admission of any characterization Plaintiff

may ascribe to the defined terms. The NRA further denies that Plaintiff is entitled to any relief.

The NRA expressly reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as may be

necessary.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. The NRA admits that it is a New York not-for-profit corporation. The NRA denies

the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 1 of the Complaint.

2. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre has served as Chief Executive Officer of the

NRA since 1991. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 2 of the Complaint.

3. The NRA admits so much of the first sentence of Paragraph 3 as alleges that Mr.

LaPierre has discretion which should be exercised in the best interests of the organization. The

NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 3 of the Complaint.

4. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 4 of the Complaint.

5. The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 5 as alleges that Mr. LaPierre entrusted

others with responsibility for the NRA's legal compliance. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 5 of the Complaint.

6. The NRA admits that significant travel and entertainment expenses were billed to

the NRA by its disgraced and former vendor, Ackerman McQueen, Inc., in violation of applicable

accounting controls. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the

truth of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 6 of the Complaint concerning Mr. Powell and Mr.

Phillips, and therefore denies such allegations. Mr. LaPierre has repaid private travel and other

costs to the NRA. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 6 of the

Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

7. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell received salary increases, and that he was

terminated for cause in January 2020. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in

Paragraph 7 of the Complaint.

8. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 8 of the Complaint concerning Mr. Frazer's practice prior

to his employment at the NRA, and therefore denies such allegations. The NRA denies the

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 8 of the Complaint.

9. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre travels by private air charter pursuant to a bona

fide security program, and has occasionally been accompanied by family members and other

passengers. The NRA states that expenses associated with private air travel which were determined

to constitute excess benefits were reimbursed by Mr. LaPierre to the NRA. To the extent that

Paragraph 9 of the Complaint sets forth allegations concerning travel or leisure activities

undertaken by Mr. LaPierre and his family other than in connection with NRA business, the NRA

lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of such allegations and

therefore denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 9 of the

Complaint.

10. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell failed to timely disclose relationships with certain

NRA vendors, and states that Mr. Powell is no longer employed by the NRA. The NRA further

states that post-employment consulting agreements negotiated by Mr. Phillips with departing

employees which were not in the best interest of the NRA have been terminated, and Mr. Phillips

is no longer employed by the NRA. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in

Paragraph 10 of the Complaint.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

11. The NRA admits that in 2018, certain employees notified the Audit Committee of their concerns regarding allegedly improper practices and behavior, and that some of these concerns involved Mr. Powell. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

11 of the Complaint.

12. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 12 of the Complaint.

13. The NRA admits that it filed for chapter 11 protection on January 15, 2021. To the

extent the Complaint paraphrases and quotes from the opinion of the United States Bankruptcy

Court for the Northern District of Texas, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the full text of

the opinion for its complete, accurate contents and denies the allegations to the extent they are

inconsistent with the opinion. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 13

of the Complaint.

14. To the extent that Paragraph 14 purports to characterize New York statutes or

remedies sought thereunder, its allegations consist of legal conclusions to which no response is

required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies

the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 14 of the Complaint.

15. To the extent that Paragraph 15 purports to characterize New York statutes or

remedies sought thereunder, its allegations consist of legal conclusions to which no response is

required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies

the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 15 of the Complaint.

**PART ONE - THE PARTIES** 

16. Paragraph 16 of the Complaint contains legal conclusions to which no response is

required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

17. The NRA admits that it is a not-for-profit corporation that has been domiciled in

the State of New York since its formation on November 17, 1871, but denies that its name is

ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

MYCCEE DOC NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

National Rifle Association of America, Inc. The NRA further admits that it engages in fundraising

and is registered with the Charities Bureau of the Office of the Attorney General to conduct

business and solicit donations. The remaining allegations in Paragraph 17 of the Complaint consist

of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA

denies such allegations.

18. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 18 of the Complaint.

19. Paragraph 19 of the Complaint purports to describe and/or summarize the contents

of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its

bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 19 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

20. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre has served as Executive Vice President of the

NRA since the early 1990s, a position to which he has been annually elected by the NRA Board

of Directors. The NRA further admits that Mr. LaPierre maintains an office address at 11250

Waples Mill Road, Fairfax, VA 22030. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 20 of the

Complaint purport to describe and/or summarize the NRA's bylaws, the NRA states that its bylaws

speak for themselves, and respectfully refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 20 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them.

21. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell held the positions of Chief of Staff, Executive

Director of General Operations, and Senior Strategist, and served as an ex officio member of the

Board of Directors. The NRA further admits that Mr. Powell was terminated for cause in January

2020. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the

Complaint's allegations regarding Mr. Powell's current residence, and therefore denies such

DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

allegations. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 21 purport to characterize New York statutes or obligations arising thereunder, they state legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 21 of the Complaint.

- 22. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 22 of the Complaint.
- 23. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 23 of the Complaint.

#### PART TWO – JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 24. The allegations in Paragraph 24 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 25. The allegations in Paragraph 25 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 26 The allegations in Paragraph 26 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 27. The allegations in Paragraph 27 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
  - 28. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 28 of the Complaint.

#### PART THREE – APPLICABLE LAW

29. The allegations in Paragraph 29 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

DOC. NO. 889

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

30 The allegations in Paragraph 30 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

31. The allegations in Paragraph 31 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

32. The allegations in Paragraph 32 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

33. The allegations in Paragraph 33 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

34. The allegations in Paragraph 34 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

35. The allegations in Paragraph 35 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

36. The allegations in Paragraph 36 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

37 The allegations in Paragraph 37 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

DOC. NO. 889

38. The allegations in Paragraph 38 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

39. The allegations in Paragraph 39 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

40 The allegations in Paragraph 40 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

41. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 41 set forth legal conclusions, no

response is required. If a response were required, the NRA denies the allegations.

42. The allegations in Paragraph 42 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

43. The allegations in Paragraph 43 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

44. The allegations in Paragraph 44 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

45 The allegations in Paragraph 45 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

DOC. NO. 889

46. The allegations in Paragraph 46 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

47. The allegations in Paragraph 47 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

48. The allegations in Paragraph 48 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

49. The allegations in Paragraph 49 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

50. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 50 of the Complaint.

51. The allegations in Paragraph 51 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

52. The allegations in Paragraph 52 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

53 The allegations in Paragraph 53 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

54. The allegations in Paragraph 54 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

55. The allegations in Paragraph 55 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

56 The allegations in Paragraph 56 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

PART FOUR – THE NRA'S HISTORY AND INTERNAL GOVERNANCE

57. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 57 of the Complaint.

58. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 58 of the Complaint.

59. The NRA admits that it established itself as among the largest, oldest social-welfare

nonprofits in the country, and further admits that it is a 501(c)(4) organization exempt from certain

taxation. The remaining allegations in Paragraph 59 consist of legal conclusions to which no

response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

60. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in the first and third sentences of

Paragraph 60. The remaining allegations in Paragraph 60 of the Complaint consist of legal

conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies

such allegations.

61. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 61 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

62. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 62 of the Complaint.

63. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in the first two sentences of Paragraph 63

and denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 63.

64. The allegations in Paragraph 64 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

65. Paragraph 65 of the Complaint purports to describe and/or summarize the contents

of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its

bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 65 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

66. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 66 purport to characterize New York

law, they constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is

required, the NRA denies such allegations. The remaining allegations in Paragraph 66 purport to

describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The

NRA respectfully refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 66 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies

them.

67. Paragraph 67 of the Complaint purports to describe and/or summarize the contents

of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its

bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 67 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

68. Paragraph 68 of the Complaint purports to describe and/or summarize the contents

of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 68 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

69. Paragraph 69 of the Complaint purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its

bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 69 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

70. Paragraph 70 of the Complaint purports to describe and/or summarize the contents

of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its

bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 70 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

71. The allegations in Paragraph 71 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 71 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

72. The allegations in Paragraph 72 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 72 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

73. The allegations in Paragraph 73 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 73 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

74. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 74 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

75 The NRA admits that Wayne LaPierre has been in the leadership of the NRA for approximately thirty years. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 75 of the Complaint.

76. The allegations in Paragraph 76 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 76 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

- 77. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 77 of the Complaint.
- 78. The allegations in Paragraph 78 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 78 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.
- 79. The allegations in Paragraph 79 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 79 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.
- 80. The NRA admits that Mr. Philips served as Treasurer until he was replaced in 2018. The remaining allegations in Paragraph 80 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 80 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.
- 81. The NRA admits that Mr. Frazer has served as Secretary since 2015. The remaining allegations in Paragraph 81 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or summarize the contents of

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its

bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 81 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

82. The allegations in Paragraph 82 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 82 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

The allegations in Paragraph 83 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or 83.

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 83 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

84. The allegations in Paragraph 84 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 84 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

85. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 85 of the Complaint that the

NRA has dozens of standing committees of the Board and denies the remaining allegations of

Paragraph 85.

DOC. NO. 889

86. The allegations in Paragraph 86 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 86 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

87 The allegations in Paragraph 87 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 87 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

88. The allegations in Paragraph 88 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 88 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

89. The allegations in Paragraph 89 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 89 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

90. The allegations in Paragraph 90 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 90 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

91. The allegations in Paragraph 91 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws and Audit Committee Charter, which speak for

themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete, accurate

contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 91 are inconsistent with the referenced

documents, the NRA denies them. The remaining allegations in Paragraph 91 consist of legal

conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies

such allegations.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

92. The allegations in Paragraph 92 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the Audit Committee Charter, which speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to the Audit Committee Charter for its complete, accurate contents;

to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 92 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them.

93. The allegations in Paragraph 93 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the Audit Committee Charter, which speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to the Audit Committee Charter for its complete, accurate contents;

to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 93 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them.

94. The allegations in Paragraph 94 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the Audit Committee Charter, which speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to the Audit Committee Charter for its complete, accurate contents;

to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 94 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them.

95. The allegations in Paragraph 95 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the Audit Committee Charter, which speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to the Audit Committee Charter for its complete, accurate contents;

to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 95 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them.

96. The allegations in Paragraph 96 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of corporate documents, which speak for themselves. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

that the allegations in Paragraph 96 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA

denies them.

97. The allegations in Paragraph 97 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the Statement of Corporate Ethics, which speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to the Statement for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that

the allegations in Paragraph 97 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies

them.

98. The allegations in Paragraph 98 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 98 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

The allegations in Paragraph 99 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or 99.

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 99 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

100. The allegations in Paragraph 100 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 100 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

101. The allegations in Paragraph 101 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA Employee Handbook and the NRA Policy Manual, which

speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to those documents for their

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 101 are inconsistent

with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

102. The NRA admits that board resolutions were adopted between 1988 and 1998 that

impacted the contract review process. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in

Paragraph 102 of the Complaint.

103 To the extent that Paragraph 103 purports to describe and/or summarize the

contents of resolutions adopted by the NRA Board, the NRA states that such documents speak for

themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete, accurate

contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 103 are inconsistent with the referenced

documents, the NRA denies them.

104. To the extent that Paragraph 104 purports to describe and/or summarize the

contents of resolutions adopted by the NRA Board, the NRA states that such documents speak for

themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete, accurate

contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 104 are inconsistent with the referenced

documents, the NRA denies them.

105. The NRA admits that in 2012, Mr. LaPierre signed a memorandum discussing

procedures for complying with Board resolutions governing purchasing. The NRA states that the

memorandum contained inaccuracies arising from its failure to reflect policy changes enacted by

the Board of Directors pursuant to its resolution dated December 21, 2005 and approved on January

7, 2006. To the extent that Paragraph 105 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of

the memorandum, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to the memorandum for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 105 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

MVSCEE DOC NO 880

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

106. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 106 of the Complaint.

107. The NRA admits that it has policies governing hiring, evaluating, and retaining

employees. To the extent that Paragraph 107 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents

of such policies, the NRA states that the policy documents speak for themselves and respectfully

refers the Court to such documents for their complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 107 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies

them.

108. The NRA admits the allegations in Paragraph 108.

109. Paragraph 109 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Employee Handbook. The NRA states that this document speaks for itself and respectfully refers

the Court to the Employee Handbook for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 109 are inconsistent with the referenced document and with other NRA

policy documents, including the NRA Policy Manual, the NRA denies them.

110. Paragraph 110 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the Travel

and Business Expense Reimbursement Policy. The NRA states that this document speaks for itself,

and respectfully refers the Court to the Travel and Business Expense Reimbursement Policy for

its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 110 are inconsistent

with the referenced document and other NRA policy documents, including the NRA Policy

Manual, the NRA denies them.

111. Paragraph 111 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the Travel

and Business Expense Reimbursement Policy. The NRA states that this document speaks for itself,

and respectfully refers the Court to the Travel and Business Expense Reimbursement Policy for

its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 111 are inconsistent

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

with the referenced document and other NRA policy documents, including the NRA Policy

Manual, the NRA denies them.

Paragraph 112 of the Complaint purports to describe and/or summarize the contents 112.

of the NRA Employee Handbook. The NRA states that such document speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to the Employee Handbook for its complete, accurate and current

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 112 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them.

113. Paragraph 113 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the Travel

and Business Expense Reimbursement Policy. The NRA states that this document speaks for itself,

and respectfully refers the Court to the Travel and Business Expense Reimbursement Policy for

its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 113 are inconsistent

with the referenced document and other NRA policy documents, including the NRA Policy

Manual, the NRA denies them.

Paragraph 114 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the Travel

and Business Expense Reimbursement Policy. The NRA states that this document speaks for itself,

and respectfully refers the Court to the Travel and Business Expense Reimbursement Policy for

its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 114 are inconsistent

with the referenced document and other NRA policy documents, including the NRA Policy

Manual, the NRA denies them.

Paragraph 115 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the Travel

and Business Expense Reimbursement Policy. The NRA states that this document speaks for itself,

and respectfully refers the Court to the Travel and Business Expense Reimbursement Policy for

its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 115 are inconsistent

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

with the referenced document and other NRA policy documents, including the NRA Policy

Manual, the NRA denies them.

Paragraph 116 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the Statement 116.

of Corporate Ethics. The NRA states that this document speaks for itself, and respectfully refers

the Court to the Statement for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in

Paragraph 116 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

Paragraph 117 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA's 117.

previous whistleblower policy. The NRA states that this document speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to the NRA whistleblower policy for its complete, accurate contents.

To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 117 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them.

118. Paragraph 118 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of a new version

of the Statement of Corporate Ethics. The NRA states that this document speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to the Statement for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that

the allegations in Paragraph 118 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies

them. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 118 purport to characterize New York law,

they constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is

required, the NRA denies such allegations.

Paragraph 119 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA 119.

Purchasing Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Purchasing Policy speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 119 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

Paragraph 120 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA 120

Purchasing Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Purchasing Policy speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 120 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

121 Paragraph 121 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Purchasing Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Purchasing Policy speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 121 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

122. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 122 of the Complaint.

123. Paragraph 123 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Purchasing Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Purchasing Policy speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 123 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

124. Paragraph 124 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Purchasing Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Purchasing Policy speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 124 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

125. To the extent that Paragraph 125 purports to describe and/or summarize the

contents of a resolution adopted by the NRA Board, the NRA states that such document speaks for

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents;

to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 125 are inconsistent with the referenced documents,

the NRA denies them.

Paragraph 126 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA 126.

Officers and Board of Directors Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Officers and Board of

Directors Policy speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its

complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 126 are inconsistent

with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

127. Paragraph 127 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Officers and Board of Directors Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Officers and Board of

Directors Policy speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its

complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 127 are inconsistent

with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

128. Paragraph 128 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of NRA public

filings. The NRA states that those public filings speak for themselves, and respectfully refers the

Court to such documents for their complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 128 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

129. Paragraph 129 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Officers and Board of Directors Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Officers and Board of

Directors Policy speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its

complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 129 are inconsistent

with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The remaining allegations in Paragraph 129

INDEX NO. 451625/2020 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

of the Complaint constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent that a

response is required, the NRA denies the allegations.

130. The NRA admits that its Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy

was adopted in or around January 2016 and constitutes a separate policy document distinct from

the Employee Handbook. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 130 of

the Complaint.

131. Paragraph 131 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Conflict

of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court

to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

131 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The remaining

allegations in Paragraph 131 of the Complaint constitute legal conclusions to which no response

is required; to the extent that a response is required, the NRA denies the allegations.

132. Paragraph 132 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Conflict

of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court

to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

132 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

133. Paragraph 133 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Conflict

of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court

to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

133 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

Paragraph 134 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA 134

Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Conflict

of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court

to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

134 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

135. Paragraph 135 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Conflict

of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court

to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

135 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

PART FIVE – DEFENDANTS' VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK LAW

Paragraph 136 of the Complaint purports to describe and/or summarize the contents 136.

of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its

bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 136 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

137. Paragraph 137 of the Complaint purports to describe and/or summarize the contents

of the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its

bylaws for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 137 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

138. The NRA admits that it had approximately 550 employees.

139. The NRA admits that Mr. Philips served as Treasurer of the NRA for 26 years, a

position to which he was annually elected by the NRA Board. To the extent that Paragraph 139

purports to describe and/or summarize the executive authority of the Treasurer and/or the

Executive Vice President pursuant to the NRA bylaws, the NRA states that its bylaws speak for

ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

MYCCEE DOC NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

themselves and respectfully refers the Court to the bylaws for their complete and accurate contents.

To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 139 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 139.

140. The NRA admits that it hired Mr. Frazer as General Counsel in 2015, and further

admits that Mr. Frazer has served as Secretary since 2015, a position to which he has annually

been elected by the NRA Board. To the extent that Paragraph 140 purports to describe and/or

summarize the executive authority of the Treasurer and/or the Executive Vice President pursuant

to the NRA bylaws, the NRA states that its bylaws speak for themselves and respectfully refers

the Court to the bylaws for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 140 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 140.

141. The NRA admits that it hired Mr. Powell as Chief of Staff in 2016, and further

admits that he was appointed to the roles of Executive Director of General Operations in January

2017 and Senior Strategist in December 2018. The NRA further admits that it terminated Mr.

Powell in January 2020. To the extent that Paragraph 141 purports to describe and/or summarize

the executive authority of the Executive Vice President pursuant to the NRA bylaws, the NRA

states that its bylaws speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to the bylaws for their

complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 141 are inconsistent

with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations

in Paragraph 141.

142. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 142 of the Complaint.

143. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 143 of the Complaint.

ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

NVSCEE DOC NO 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

144. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre's wife, Susan LaPierre, was chair of the NRA

Women's Leadership Forum. With respect to testimony allegedly elicited from Mr. LaPierre by

the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that the transcript of such

testimony speaks for itself. The NRA states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied,

the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA

lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in

Paragraph 144 of the Complaint purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that

basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

144 of the Complaint.

145. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 145 of the Complaint.

146. Paragraph 146 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the

NYAG during the course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited

subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede

accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA

further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify

and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 146 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 146 of the Complaint.

147. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 147 purport to characterize testimony

of Wayne LaPierre, the testimony speaks for itself and the NRA denies the allegations to the extent

they are inconsistent with that testimony. The NRA otherwise denies the allegations in Paragraph

147 of the Complaint.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

148. Because Paragraph 148 fails to specify the "NRA records" referenced, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of allegations regarding such records and therefore denies such allegations. The NRA states that air charter charges determined to constitute excess benefits were reimbursed by Mr. LaPierre to the NRA. With respect to testimony allegedly elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 148 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 148 of the Complaint.

Paragraph 149 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 149 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA admits that it incurred an air charter charge totaling \$11,435 on August 21, 2016, and states that this amount was reimbursed by Mr. LaPierre with interest. To the extent that Paragraph 149

MYCCEE DOC NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

purports to characterize travel or recreation activities undertaken by Mr. LaPierre or his family other than in connection with NRA business, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient

to form a belief as to the truth of such allegations and therefore denies them. The NRA denies the

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 149 of the Complaint.

150. Paragraph 150 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the

NYAG during the course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited

subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede

accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA

further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify

and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 150 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA

admits that it incurred an air charter charge totaling \$26,995 on July 1, 2017, and states that the

amount of this benefit realized from this flight was reimbursed by Mr. LaPierre with interest. The

NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 150 of the Complaint.

151. Paragraph 151 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the

NYAG during the course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited

subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede

accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA

further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify

and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 151 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA states

NIVOCEE DOC NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

that expenses that were determined to constitute excess benefits were reimbursed to the NRA with

interest. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 151 of the Complaint.

152. Paragraph 152 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the

NYAG during the course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited

subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede

accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA

further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify

and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 152 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA states

that expenses associated with private air travel which were determined to constitute excess benefits

were reimbursed by Mr. LaPierre to the NRA.

153. Paragraph 153 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the

NYAG during the course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited

subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede

accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA

further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify

and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 153 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 153 of the Complaint.

154. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 154 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

155 The NRA states that charges associated with private air travel which constituted potential excess benefits were reimbursed by Mr. LaPierre. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations in Paragraph 155 of the Complaint.

156. The NRA admits that in March and April 2019, Mr. LaPierre took business trips to

Orlando, Florida and Tulsa, Oklahoma with a stop in North Platte, Nebraska. The NRA states that

potential excess benefit amounts relating to these trips were reimbursed by Mr. LaPierre with

interest. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 156 of the Complaint.

Paragraph 157 purports to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG during the 157.

course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial

COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription; the

NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to

identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations purporting to characterize

the referenced testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations.

158. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 158 of the Complaint, and on that basis denies

such allegations.

159. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 159 of the Complaint.

160. Paragraph 160 purports to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG during the

course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial

COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription; for

example, the testimony referenced here was conducted by videoconference. The NRA further

states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and

MYGGEE DOG NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 160 of the Complaint

purporting to characterize the referenced testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The

NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 160.

161. To the extent Paragraph 161 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of

regulatory filings by the NRA, the NRA states that such documents speak for themselves, and

respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete, accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 161 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

of allegations in Paragraph 161 regarding the NYAG's success or failure at locating evidence, and

on that basis denies such allegations.

162. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 162 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

163. The allegations in paragraph 163 refer to the NRA's 2019 IRS Form 990, which

speaks for itself. The NRA therefore respectfully refers the court to the Form 990 for its complete,

accurate contents. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent

with the Form 990.

164. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 164 of the Complaint purport to reflect

statements in the NRA's 2019 IRS Form 990, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the

regulatory disclosure for its complete, accurate contents and denies the allegations to the extent

they are inconsistent with the Form 990. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 164 of the

Complaint purports to state legal conclusions, no response is required. To the extent a response is

COUNTY CLERK

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

required, the NRA denies the allegations. The NRA otherwise denies the allegations set forth in

Paragraph 164 of the Complaint.

165. The NRA admits that it incurred charges relating to air travel by Mr. LaPierre to

the Bahamas during the referenced period, including in connection with donor-cultivation and

other business activities. The NRA states that charges deemed to constitute excess benefits were

reimbursed by Mr. LaPierre. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief

as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations in Paragraph 165 of the Complaint and, on

that basis, denies such allegations.

166. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre attended celebrity fundraising events during

December in the Bahamas. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 166

of the Complaint.

167. The NRA admits that it had previously executed contracts with each of Membership

Marketing Partners ("MMP"), Allegiance Creative Group ("Allegiance"), and Concord Social &

Public Relations ("Concord"), and that such contracts were signed in December 2011. The NRA

further states that these previously executed contracts have been replaced by an agreement between

the NRA and Allegiance, dated as of August 1, 2022. The NRA further states that, under this

contract with Allegiance, "the NRA retains the explicit right to hire other vendors for any . . .

membership solicitations and communications." The NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations in Paragraph 167

of the Complaint and, on that basis, denies such allegations.

The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 168 of the Complaint. 168.

COUNTY CLERK

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

169 The NRA admits that it paid MMP approximately \$71 million during the period

from 2014 to 2020, and admits that it paid Concord approximately \$26 million during the same

period. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 169.

170. The NRA admits that it paid Allegiance approximately \$6 million during the period

from 2014 to 2020. To the extent Paragraph 170 purports to describe and/or summarize the

contents of the NRA's 2018 Form 990, the NRA states that such form speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 170 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

171 Paragraph 171 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the

NYAG during the course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited

subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede

accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA

further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify

and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 171 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 171 of the Complaint.

172. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre signed contracts with MMP in 2015 and 2017;

Allegiance in 2015, 2017, 2019, and 2022; Concord in 2015 and 2017; and ATI in 2004. To the

extent Paragraph 172 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG

during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to

substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate

MVCCEE DOC NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states

that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify

errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient

to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 172 purporting to characterize Mr.

LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 172 of the Complaint.

173. The NRA admits that it possesses, and produced to the NYAG copies of,

travel-expense reimbursement documents reflecting trips by Mr. LaPierre to California during the

referenced period, including hotel stays and meetings with vendors. The NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the remaining allegations in Paragraph 173,

and therefore denies such allegations.

174. To the extent Paragraph 174 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr.

LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony

was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to

impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The

NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to

identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 174 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 174 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

175. To the extent Paragraph 175 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr.

LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony

MVSCEE DOC NO 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to

impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The

NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to

identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 175 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 175 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

176. To the extent Paragraph 176 purports to characterize the contents of the NRA

Financial Disclosure Questionnaires and copies thereof submitted by Mr. LaPierre, the NRA states

that such documents speak for themselves, and respectfully refers the Court to such documents for

their complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 176 are

inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

177. Paragraph 177 purports to characterize the contents of the NRA Financial

Disclosure Questionnaires and copies thereof submitted by Mr. LaPierre. The NRA states that such

documents speak for themselves, and respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their

complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 177 are inconsistent

with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. To the extent Paragraph 177 purports to

characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its

investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19

precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including

masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly

requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's

and on that basis denies such allegations.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 177 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony,

178. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 178 of the Complaint purport to cite, quote from, or paraphrase the testimony of Wayne LaPierre, that testimony speaks for itself and the NRA respectfully refers the court to the transcript of that testimony for its complete, accurate contents and to the extent they are inconsistent with the testimony denies such allegations. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 178 constitute legal conclusions, no response is required. To the extent a response is required, the NRA denies the allegations set forth in the paragraph except that it admits that, on or about April 7, 2021, Wayne LaPierre filled out a conflict of interest form

and, on or about the same day, testified in the NRA's chapter 11 proceeding.

179. To the extent Paragraph 179 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 179 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations.

180. To the extent Paragraph 180 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The

MVSCEE DOC NO 880

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to

identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 180 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA states

that Mr. LaPierre performs significant donor-cultivation work, for which ample "evidentiary

support" exists. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 180 of the

Complaint.

181. The NRA denies the allegations of Paragraph 181 of the Complaint.

182. Paragraph 182 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA

Travel Policy. The NRA states that the NRA Travel Policy speaks for itself, and respectfully refers

the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 182 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

183. The NRA admits that it has purchased travel-consulting services from Inventive

Incentive & Insurance Services Inc. ("II&IS"), and that certain II&IS invoices issued over the

course of the past thirty years have borne the d/b/a name GS2 Enterprises. To the extent Paragraph

183 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course

of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-

19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including

masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly

requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's

transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 183 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony,

COUNTY CLERK

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph

183.

To the extent Paragraph 184 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. 184.

LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony

was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to

impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The

NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to

identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 184 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 184.

185. The NRA denies knowledge of information sufficient to form a belief regarding the

accuracy of the allegations in Paragraph 185 of the Complaint and on that basis denies them.

186. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in the first, second, third, fifth, and sixth

sentences of Paragraph 186 of the Complaint. The NRA lacks knowledge and information

sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of the allegations in the fourth sentence of paragraph

186 of the Complaint.

187. The NRA admits that for the services Gayle Stanford and II&IS provided to the

NRA, II&IS billed the NRA. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief

as to the accuracy of the second sentence of Paragraph 187 of the Complaint. The NRA denies the

allegations set forth in the third sentence of Paragraph 187 of the Complaint. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of the allegation in the

COUNTY CLERK

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

fourth sentence of Paragraph 187 of the Complaint except that the NRA admits that it understood GS2 Enterprises to be a d/b/a name for II&IS.

188. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of the allegations in Paragraph 188 of the Complaint.

189 The NRA admits the first sentence of Paragraph 189 of the Complaint, that certain of the invoices from Gayle Stanford and II&IS for travel services provided included destination information and that certain invoices did not include passenger information. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of the second sentence of Paragraph 189 of the Complaint. To the extent that the third sentence of Paragraph 189 of the Complaint purports to cite or paraphrase Wayne LaPierre's prior testimony, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the full transcript of such testimony for its complete, accurate contents and to the extent the allegations are inconsistent with such testimony denies such allegations. The NRA denies the allegations in the fourth and fifth sentences of paragraph 189 of the Complaint. To the extent the last sentence of Paragraph 189 purports to refer to or paraphrase prior testimony by the NRA's Director of Purchasing, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the full transcript of the witness's testimony and denies the allegations in this sentence of Paragraph 189 of the Complaint to the extent they are inconsistent with such testimony. In addition, To the extent Paragraph 189 purports to characterize testimony elicited from witnesses by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, to that extent, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 189 and on that basis and to that extent

denies such allegations.

190. The NRA denies that, during the entirety of the 2005-2019 period, the NRA's

Purchasing Policy required written authorization of the NRA President or a Vice President. The

NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 190 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

191. The NRA admits that Ackerman invoiced the NRA \$4,000 monthly allegedly for

fees paid to II & IS. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the

truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 191 of the Complaint, and

therefore denies them.

192 To the extent that Paragraph 192 of the Complaint purports to refer to or

characterize testimony of Mr. Phillips, such testimony speaks for itself and the NRA respectfully

refers the court to the full transcript of such testimony for its complete and accurate contents and

denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with such testimony.

193. To the extent Paragraph 193 purports to describe and/or summarize a business case

analysis worksheet pertaining to travel services provider II&IS, the NRA states that this document

speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 193 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

193 of the Complaint.

To the extent Paragraph 194 purports to describe and/or summarize a business case 194.

analysis worksheet pertaining to travel services provider II&IS, the NRA states that this document

speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 194 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them.

195. The NRA admits that in or around late 2019, the NRA conducted a competitive

bidding process for executive travel services, that Gayle Stanford submitted a bid, and that no

agreement between Gayle Stanford and the NRA was formalized. To the extent that Paragraph 195

of the Complaint refers to testimony of Gayle Stanford or the bid she submitted, the NRA

respectfully refers the court to the full transcript of such testimony and the bid for their complete,

accurate contents and denies the allegations in Paragraph 195 of the Complaint to the extent they

are inconsistent with such testimony or bid.

196. To the extent Paragraph 196 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr.

LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony

was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to

impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The

NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to

identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 196 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations.

197. The NRA admits that it paid II&IS as a travel consultant (including pass-through

amounts for costs) from August 2014 to February 2020. The NRA denies the remaining allegations

in Paragraph 197.

The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 198 of the Complaint. 198.

The NRA admits that it remitted expense reimbursements to Mr. LaPierre during 199.

the referenced period. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 199 purport to characterize

THE TOTAL COURT

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

the net balance of reimbursements remitted between and among the NRA and Mr. LaPierre

(omitting reimbursements by Mr. LaPierre to the NRA), the NRA denies such allegations.

200. To the extent that Paragraph 200 purports to characterize or apply the IRC or IRS

regulations, its allegations consist of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the

extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA states that, at its request,

Mr. LaPierre reimbursed the NRA with interest for any portion of a number of "gifts" in excess of

\$25. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity

of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 200 of the Complaint.

201. To the extent that Paragraph 201 purports to characterize or apply the IRC or IRS

regulations, its allegations consist of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the

extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA states that, at its request,

Mr. LaPierre reimbursed the NRA with interest for any portion of a number of "gifts" in excess of

\$25. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity

of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 201 of the Complaint, and therefore denies

them.

202. The NRA admits the first sentence of Paragraph 202 of the Complaint. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 202 purport to characterize travel, recreation, or charitable

activities by Mr. LaPierre or his family, the NRA lacks knowledge of information sufficient to

form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 202, and therefore

denies them.

203. The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 203 of the Complaint as it alleges that Mr.

LaPierre on occasion was reimbursed for expenses associated with Colleen Sterner, an NRA

employee. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 203 purport to characterize NRA

NVSCEE DOC NO 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

expense-reimbursement records, the NRA states that these documents speak for themselves, and

respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete, accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 203 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA

denies them. The NRA states that Mr. LaPierre has reimbursed the NRA for expenses determined

to constitute excess benefits. The NRA further states that Mr. LaPierre has reimbursed the NRA

for the \$12,332.75 expense with interest associated with Ms. Sterner's stay at the Four Seasons

Hotel in Dallas, Texas in early 2017 referenced in Paragraph 203 of the Complaint.

204. The NRA admits that it reimbursed expenses incurred by Mr. LaPierre in

connection with the production of Under Wild Skies, a television program focused on hunting and

conservation. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 204 of the Complaint, and therefore

denies them.

205. The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 205 of the Complaint as it alleges that NRA

paid expenses associated with trips by Mr. LaPierre and Tony Makris to Scottsdale, Arizona in

2018. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of

the remaining allegations in Paragraph 205 of the Complaint. The NRA states that Mr. LaPierre

has reimbursed the NRA with interest for expenses determined to constitute excess benefits. The

NRA further states that Mr. LaPierre has reimbursed the NRA for, among other things, the lodging

expenses in Scottsdale, Arizona, referenced in Paragraph 205 of the Complaint.

206. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre was reimbursed for expenses during the

referenced period relating to, among other things, golf club membership fees. To the extent that

Paragraph 206 purports to characterize Form CHAR500 or any related document filed with the

NYAG, the NRA states that these filings speak for themselves, and respectfully refers the Court

NYSCEE DOC NO 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

to such documents for their complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 206 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. To the extent Paragraph 206 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 206 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 206 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

207. The NRA admits that certain expenses submitted by Mr. LaPierre were, until 2019, processed by employees within NRA-ILA, and that an employee involved in the process incurred an extended sick leave beginning in 2017. To the extent Paragraph 207 purports to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription; for example, the testimony referenced here was conducted by videoconference, with the witness situated in a remote area and tasked with printing and organizing his own exhibits. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 207 purporting to characterize the referenced testimony, and on that

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 207 of the Complaint.

- 208. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 208 of the Complaint.
- 209. The NRA admits that a number of consulting contracts were expensed to the budget of the Executive Vice President cost center. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 209.
- 210. The NRA admits that its Financial Services Division prepares a proposed budget each year based on, among other things (i) data regarding historical expenditures in relevant categories and (ii) input from executives including, where applicable, Mr. LaPierre. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 210.
- 211. The NRA states that its policies which relate to contracts involving the NRA speak for themselves, and respectfully refers to them in its response to Paragraph 211 of the Complaint. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 211.
- 212. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 212 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.
- To the extent Paragraph 213 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. 213. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 213 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

admits that in certain instances during 2018, McKenna received payment for services not covered

by its then-existing contract. The NRA further admits that during the time period alleged, certain

invoices were paid without confirmation of a formal written contract. The NRA lacks knowledge

or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set

forth in Paragraph 213 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

214 The NRA admits that certain Women's Leadership Forum staff work closely with

Mrs. LaPierre and that certain expenses associated the Women's Leadership Forum fundraising

activity were increased. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 214 of the Complaint, and

therefore denies them.

215. The NRA admits that the EVP Consulting Budget has, from time to time, included

consulting arrangements with former NRA presidents and other board members. The NRA further

states that the details of such consulting arrangements, their documentation, and their approval or

ratification by the Audit Committee varied over time. The requirements of New York law and

NRA policy have likewise varied over time. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 215

purport to characterize New York law, they constitute legal conclusions to which no response is

required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. To the extent the

allegations in Paragraph 215 purport to characterize the Conflict of Interest and Related Party

Transaction Policy, the NRA states that such policy speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers

the Court to the Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy for its complete, accurate

contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 215 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

215 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

216 The NRA denies the allegations in Paragraph 216 of the Complaint.

217. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 217 of the Complaint set forth legal

conclusions, no response is required. To the extent a response is required, the NRA denies the

allegations.

218. The NRA denies the allegation in the first sentence of paragraph 218 of the

Complaint. To the extent the second sentence of paragraph 218 states a legal conclusion, no

response is required. To the extent a response is required, the NRA denies the allegation in the

second sentence of Paragraph 218. The NRA denies the allegations in the third sentence of

paragraph 218. To the extent the fourth sentence of Paragraph 218 purports to describe the contents

of Mr. LaPierre's federal or state tax returns, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient

to form a belief as to the truth of those allegations and for that reason denies them. The NRA has

no knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the allegation set forth in the fifth

sentence of paragraph 218. The NRA states that Mr. LaPierre has reimbursed the NRA for

expenses determined to constitute excess benefits.

219. The NRA admits that during the referenced period, it incurred expenses to provide

security for Mr. LaPierre based on the advice of security professionals. To the extent Paragraph

219 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course

of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-

19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including

masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly

requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's

transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 219 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony,

NYSCEF DOC NO 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to

form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 219 of the

Complaint, and therefore denies them.

220. The NRA admits that an armored vehicle was procured for the protection of Mr.

LaPierre. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 220 purport to excerpt or characterize

testimony elicited by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that it

repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in

the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form

a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 220 purporting to characterize such

testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations.

221. To the extent that Paragraph 221 of the Complaint purports to characterize

testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of its investigation, the NRA states that it repeatedly

requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's

transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such

as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to

diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 221 purporting to

recount witnesses' testimony, and therefore denies such allegations. The NRA admits so much of

paragraph 221 that alleges that Ackerman's CEO proposed to acquire an investment property in

North Texas and allow it to be used as a safe house for the LaPierres.

222. The NRA admits that in the wake of the Parkland tragedy, following advice from

Angus McQueen that a "safe house" should be established, Mr. LaPierre and his wife reviewed

several properties selected by Ackerman McQueen's real estate broker. The NRA lacks knowledge

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accurate market valuation of the property, and

denies the allegations in Paragraph 222 regarding the same. The residences visited included a home

in Westlake, Texas. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the

accurate market valuation of the property and denies the allegations in Paragraph 222 regarding

the same. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 222.

223. The NRA admits so much of these allegations in Paragraph 223 which allege that

documents prepared by attorneys selected by Ackerman McQueen (Dorsey & Whitney LLP) were

executed by Mr. Philips. The NRA states that such documents speak for themselves. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 223 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA

denies them. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 223 purport to characterize the legal

effect of such documents, they constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to

the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

224. NRA states that the allegations in Paragraph 224 purport to characterize an email

dated May 21, 2018, which speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such email

for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 224 are

inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

225. The NRA admits that an Ackerman McQueen executive sent an invoice from WBB

Investments LLC in the amount of \$70,000 bearing the referenced annotation. To the extent the

allegations in Paragraph 225 purport to characterize NRA policy, the NRA states that such policy

speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such NRA policy for its complete,

accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 225 are inconsistent with the

referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

226 The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 226 of the Complaint.

227. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 227 purport to characterize an email dated

May 25, 2018, the NRA states that such email speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the

Court to such email for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in

Paragraph 227 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. The NRA

lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 227 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

The NRA admits that it issued a check to WBB Investments, LLC in the amount of 228.

\$70,000, and that shortly thereafter, the NRA communicated that it did not intend to proceed with

the transaction and the funds were returned. To the extent Paragraph 228 purports to characterize

testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA

states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could

reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant

seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly

denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the

NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations

in Paragraph 228 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies

such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 228 of the

Complaint.

229. The NRA admits that Phillips served as Treasurer of the NRA from 1992 to 2018.

To the extent that Paragraph 229 purports to characterize the executive authority of the Treasurer

and/or the Executive Vice President pursuant to the NRA bylaws, the NRA states that its bylaws

speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to the bylaws for their complete and accurate

MVSCEE DOC NO 880

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 229 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA admits that during his tenure as Treasurer, Phillips

failed to require adherence to certain internal financial policies and controls. The NRA denies the

remaining allegations in Paragraph 229.

230. The NRA admits that beginning in 2018, after Phillips' departure, the NRA revised

certain financial control processes, including processes relating to credit card reimbursements and

expense approvals. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-

19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription; for example,

the testimony referenced here was conducted by videoconference, with the witness situated in a

remote area. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the

opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph

230 purporting to characterize the referenced testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations.

The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 230 of the Complaint.

231. The NRA admits that during 2018, at least one FSD staffer raised concerns about

NRA's failure to comply with accounting controls adopted by the Board and a concern that Mr.

Phillips was processing of payments without appropriate backup. With respect to allegations

purporting to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of its investigation, the

NRA states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and

rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to

COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would

be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations

FILED. NEW TORK COUNTY

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

purporting to recount witnesses' testimony, and therefore denies such allegations. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 231 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

232. The NRA refers to and reincorporates herein its response to Paragraph 231.

233. The NRA admits that several FSD staff raised issues with senior management and

then the Audit Committee pursuant to the NRA's whistleblower policy during the summer of 2018.

The NRA further admits that certain whistleblower concerns pertained to Mr. Phillips and Mr.

Powell. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 233.

234. The NRA admits that it made payments to HomeTelos LP between 2014 and 2017

and admits further that Mr. Phillips later disclosed a personal friendship with an executive of

HomeTelos or an affiliate. The NRA states that its transactions with HomeTelos were ratified by

the Audit Committee of the NRA Board following Mr. Phillips' disclosure. To the extent that

Paragraph 234 purports to describe NRA policy relating to disclosure of conflicts, the NRA states

that the policy speaks for itself. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

234 of the Complaint.

235. The NRA admits that on or about September 2, 2014, Mr. Phillips executed a

contract with HomeTelos LP on behalf of the NRA. The NRA states that neither Mr. LaPierre nor

any other NRA officer signed the contract or participated in its negotiation. To the extent the

allegations in Paragraph 235 purport to characterize the Conflict of Interest and Related Party

Transaction Policy, including types of relationships constituting conflicts thereunder, the NRA

states that such policy speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to the Conflict of

Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that

COUNTY CLERK

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

the allegations in Paragraph 235 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies

them.

The NRA admits that the Managing Director of Information Services participated 236.

in the negotiation of the HomeTelos contract, and determined to engage HomeTelos on the agreed

terms, without being aware of or influenced by Mr. Phillips' personal friendship. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 236 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 237 purport to characterize the contents 237.

of Mr. Philips' conflict disclosure forms for the referenced years, the NRA states that such forms

speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete,

accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 237 are inconsistent with the

referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

238. The NRA admits that the term of the HomeTelos agreement ended in 2017, it re-

examined the agreement in 2018, and the relationship was reviewed by the Audit Committee of

the NRA Board. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 238 of the Complaint.

239. The NRA admits that the individuals to whom the Complaint refers as the NRA

Whistleblowers identified the issue referenced in Paragraph 239 of the Complaint as a concern and

that they did so in or around July 2018. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 239 purport to

quote from a document, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to such a document for its complete,

accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 239 are inconsistent with the

referenced document, the NRA denies them.

FILED: NEW TORK COUNTY CLERK II/UZ/ZU

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

240. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the first sentence of Paragraph 240 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them. The

NRA admits the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 240.

241. The NRA admits that Phillips disclosed a July 2018 trip aboard a yacht owned by

the shareholder of MMP. The NRA states that Phillips disclosed the trip prior to his departure, and

the trip was ratified by the Audit Committee. To the extent Paragraph 241 purports to characterize

testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA

states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could

reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant

seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly

denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the

NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations

in Paragraph 241 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies

such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 241 of the

Complaint.

242. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 242 purport to characterize the contents

of Mr. Philips' Financial Disclosure Questionnaire, the NRA states that such document speaks for

itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents;

to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 242 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them. The NRA admits the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 242 of

the Complaint.

243. The NRA admits the allegations in the first sentence of Paragraph 243. To the extent

that Paragraph 243 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit Committee of the NRA Board

NVSCEE DOC NO 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

of Directors dated September 8-9, 2018, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The

NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the

extent that the allegations in Paragraph 243 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the

NRA denies them.

244. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in the first sentence of Paragraph

244. To the extent that Paragraph 244 purports to characterize provisions of the NRA bylaws

governing the compensation of the Treasurer, the NRA states that its bylaws speak for themselves

and respectfully refers the Court to the bylaws for their complete and accurate contents; to the

extent that the allegations in Paragraph 244 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the

NRA denies them. The remaining allegations in Paragraph 244 consist of legal conclusions to

which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

245. To the extent that Paragraph 245 purports to characterize the content of a purported

post-employment consulting agreement propounded by Mr. Philips, the NRA states that such

agreement speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its

complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 245 are inconsistent

with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. To the extent that Paragraph 245 purports to

characterize the legal effect of the foregoing document, its allegations consist of legal conclusions

to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations.

246. With respect to allegations purporting to characterize testimony elicited by the

NYAG in the course of its investigation, the NRA states that it repeatedly requested, and was

repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and

MYCCEE DOC NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking,

social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the

accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form

a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 246 purporting to recount witnesses'

testimony, and therefore denies such allegations. The NRA admits that the Audit Committee did

not review or approve any purported consulting agreement for Mr. Phillips prior to his retirement.

247. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 247 of the Complaint.

248. With respect to allegations purporting to characterize testimony elicited by the

NYAG in the course of its investigation, the NRA states that it repeatedly requested, and was

repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and

further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking,

social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the

accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form

a belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations in Paragraph 248 purporting to recount witnesses'

testimony, and therefore denies such allegations.

249. With respect to allegations purporting to characterize testimony elicited by the

NYAG in the course of its investigation, the NRA states that it repeatedly requested, and was

repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and

further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking,

social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the

accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form

a belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations in Paragraph 249 purporting to recount witnesses'

testimony, and therefore denies such allegations.

DOC. NO. 889

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

250 The NRA admits that following his retirement, Mr. Phillips submitted invoices to the NRA in the referenced amounts, and that payments were remitted in response to some of these invoices. The NRA ceased paying Mr. Phillips during 2019. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 250 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

- 251 The NRA admits that Mr. Powell was hired as Chief of Staff in 2016, and previously served as an elected member of the NRA Board. To the extent Paragraph 251 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 251 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief regarding the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 251 of the Complaint.
  - 252. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 252 of the Complaint.
- 253. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell served as Executive Director of General Operations until December 2018 and thereafter served as Senior Strategist. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 253 of the Complaint.
- To the extent that Paragraph 254 purports to characterize a memorandum dated December 3, 2018, entitled "STAFF ANNOUNCEMENT," the NRA states that such memorandum speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 254 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations

in Paragraph 254.

The NRA admits that it terminated Mr. Powell for cause in January 2020, and that 255.

such cause included misappropriation of NRA funds. The NRA denies the remaining allegations

set forth in Paragraph 255 of the Complaint.

256. The NRA admits that both Mr. LaPierre and Mr. Phillips were involved in setting

Mr. Powell's original compensation, and states that advice was also obtained from compensation

consultants. The NRA further admits that Mr. Powell received in the appropriate range salaries

during the designated periods. To the extent that Paragraph 256 purports to represent the contents

of an employment agreement, the NRA states that the agreement speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 256 are inconsistent with the referenced agreement, the NRA

denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 256 of the

Complaint.

To the extent that Paragraph 257 purports to represent the contents of an 257.

employment agreement, the NRA states that the agreement speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 257 are inconsistent with the referenced agreement, the NRA denies them.

To the extent that Paragraph 257 purports to represent the contents of NRA policies contained in

the Employee Handbook or Policy Manual, the NRA states that such policies speak for themselves.

The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents;

to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 257 are inconsistent with the referenced documents,

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

the NRA denies them. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell submitted and obtained reimbursements

for cellular, utilities, parking, cable, and internet charges. The NRA states that it is engaged in

efforts to recover such sums from Mr. Powell.

258. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell's salary was increased to \$650,000 in the third

quarter of 2017 and denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 258 of the Complaint.

259. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell's salary was increased to \$800,000 in January

2018 and that Mr. Phillips provided input concerning the salary increase. The NRA denies the

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 259 of the Complaint.

260. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell violated the NRA's expense reimbursement

requirements and policies. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 260

of the Complaint.

DOC. NO. 889

261. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell charged expenses to his NRA credit card. The

NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 261 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

262. To the extent that Paragraph 262 purports to represent the contents of the referenced

letter, the NRA states that the letter speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to

such letter for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

262 are inconsistent with the referenced letter, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 262 of the Complaint.

263. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 263 purport to require the NRA to

admit or deny the activities of outside counsel or advice sought from outside counsel, the NRA

declines to respond by reason of attorney-client privilege and the work product doctrine, and

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

therefore denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

263 of the Complaint.

264. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 264 of the Complaint.

The NRA admits that Mr. Powell offered to pay a sum of \$40,760.20 in full 265.

satisfaction of outstanding amounts sought by the NRA. The NRA admits that it rejected the check

because it did not constitute a payment of the amount demanded by the Association. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 265.

266. The allegations in Paragraph 266 of the Complaint purport to quote from and

characterize statements in the NRA's 2019 Form 990, which speaks for itself. For that reason, the

NRA respectfully refers the court to the Form 990 for its complete, accurate contents and denies

the allegations in Paragraph 266 of the Complaint to the extent they are inconsistent with the Form

990.

267. The NRA admits that discussions during 2017 regarding what later became known

as "Project Ben-Hur," and that such discussions came to involve McKenna and touched upon

banking and insurance relationships. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in

Paragraph 267 of the Complaint.

268. The NRA admits that McKenna performed services relating to Project Ben-Hur

during 2017 and 2018 which were not encompassed by McKenna's then-current contract with the

NRA. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity

of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 268 of the Complaint, and therefore denies

them.

269. The NRA admits that McKenna performed consulting services for the NRA since

at least 2012, and that such services included donor-cultivation work. The NRA admits that in July

COUNTY CLERK

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

2017, it entered into an amended contract with McKenna that provided for a \$20,000 monthly consulting fee. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 269 of the

Complaint.

DOC. NO. 889

270. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 270 of the Complaint.

271. The NRA admits that it remitted payments to McKenna in 2018, and also admits

that Mr. Powell and Mr. Phillips played a role in negotiating the terms of McKenna's engagement

during 2018. The NRA denies the remaining allegations of Paragraph 271 of the Complaint.

The NRA admits that a cybersecurity firm called LookingGlass performed services 272.

for the NRA during early 2018, and further admits that such services were discontinued by mid-

2018. The NRA further admits that Mr. Powell played a role in LookingGlass being engaged. The

NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 272 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

273. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell's wife became an independent contractor of

McKenna during or about December 2017, and later became an employee of McKenna.

274. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell's wife became an independent contractor of

McKenna during or about December 2017, and later became an employee of McKenna. The NRA

lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations in Paragraph 274, and therefore denies them.

To the extent that Paragraph 275 purports to represent the contents of an amended 275.

contract signed by Mr. Philips and Mr. Powell in January 2018, the NRA states that the contract

speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such contract for its complete and

accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 275 are inconsistent with the

referenced letter, the NRA denies them. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to

COUNTY CLERK

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 275 of the

Complaint, and therefore denies them.

276. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell did not disclose his wife's relationship with

McKenna to the NRA Office of the General Counsel or the Audit Committee prior to January

2018. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 276 characterize NRA's conflicts policy, the

policy speaks for itself. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 276 of the Complaint, and

therefore denies them.

277. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell disclosed his wife's relationship with McKenna

to the Office of the General Counsel during mid-2018. The NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

277 of the Complaint.

The NRA admits that a seminar regarding compliance obligations of all NRA 278.

employees was conducted on July 26, 2018, and that Mr. Powell participated in the seminar along

with the secretary, General Counsel. The NRA further admits that the seminar included training

on conflicts of interest and related-party transactions and other subjects. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 278 of the Complaint.

The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 279 of the Complaint. 279.

280. The NRA admits that it paid \$11,512.73 to Jim Powell Photography ("JPP") in

2018, prior to concerns being raised by staff to Mr. Powell's supervisor. The NRA further admits

that staff discussed such concerns with the Audit Committee in July 2018 pursuant to the NRA

whistleblower policy. The NRA admits that the Audit Committee of the NRA Board subsequently

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

ratified transactions with JPP but denies that the Audit Committee's review was "summar[y]." The NRA further admits that Ackerman utilized the services of Jim Powell and billed the NRA for approximately \$99,000. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 280 of the Complaint.

- 281 The NRA admits that it received a letter making assertions of sexual discrimination against Mr. Powell in June 2017. To the extent that Paragraph 281 purports to represent the letter as a complaint, the NRA states that the letter speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 281 are inconsistent with the referenced letter, the NRA denies them. The NRA admits the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 281 of the Complaint.
- 282. To the extent that Paragraph 282 purports to represent a complaint, the NRA states that the complaint speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 282 are inconsistent with the referenced complaint, the NRA denies them.
- 283. The NRA admits that in or around June 2018, it made a payment to a former employee totaling \$89,000 and obtained a release of existing and potential claims. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 283 of the Complaint.
- 284. The NRA admits that an Ackerman executive made an accusation of sexual harassment against Mr. Powell in or about October 2018, and admits that Mr. Powell ceased to be an NRA "designee" pursuant to the Ackerman Services Agreement. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 284 of the Complaint.
- The NRA admits that John Frazer was hired as General Counsel in January 2015, 285. was elected to the position of Secretary by the Board in April 2015, and continues to serve in both

ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

capacities. To the extent that Paragraph 285 purports to describe and/or summarize the executive

authority of the Executive Vice President pursuant to the NRA bylaws, the NRA states that its

bylaws speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to the bylaws for their complete and

accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 285 are inconsistent with the

referenced document, the NRA denies.

286. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 286 of the Complaint.

287. The NRA admits the allegations in Paragraph 287 of the Complaint.

288. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in the first and second sentences of Paragraph 288 of the

Complaint, and therefore denies them. The NRA admits that Mr. Frazer returned to the NRA in

January 2015 full-time as its General Counsel and received a salary that year of \$272,576 with

additional compensation of \$55,870. The NRA states that the Board approved a salary increase to

\$360,000 in September 2017 which took effect in 2018, with a bonus of \$54,100 paid in 2018. The

NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 288 of the Complaint.

289. The NRA admits the allegations in the first sentence in paragraph 289 of this

Complaint and denies the remaining allegations of Paragraph 289.

290. To the extent Paragraph 290 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr.

LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony

was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to

impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The

NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to

identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 290 purporting

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 290 of the Complaint.

291. The NRA admits the allegations contained in first and last sentences of the Paragraph 291 of the Complaint. To the extent Paragraph 291 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 291 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 291 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

- 292. The allegations in Paragraph 292 consist of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 293. With respect to allegations purporting to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of its investigation, the NRA states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 293 purporting to recount witnesses'

FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

\_\_\_\_\_\_

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

testimony, and therefore denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set

forth in Paragraph 293 of the Complaint.

294. The NRA admits that Frazer executed Forms CHAR500 in his capacity as

Secretary. To the extent that Paragraph 294 purports to characterize Forms CHAR500, the NRA

states that the forms speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to such forms for their

complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 294 are inconsistent

with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

295. To the extent that Paragraph 295 purports to characterize NRA annual filings and

certifications executed by Mr. Frazer, the NRA states that the documents speak for themselves and

respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the

extent that the allegations in Paragraph 295 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the

NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 295 of the

Complaint.

296. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 296 of the Complaint.

297. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 297 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

298. The NRA admits that it employs multiple senior staff members who liaise with Mr.

LaPierre, attend management meetings and Board meetings, and represent the NRA around the

country. The NRA admits that one such former staff member had a salary of approximately

\$250,000. The NRA admits that the referenced Senior Staff Member held various job titles, but

denies that she has always and exclusively reported to Mr. LaPierre.. The NRA further states that

the Senior Staff Member is no longer employed by the NRA. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 298 of the Complaint.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

299 The NRA admits that it conducted an internal investigation in or about 2003, and

states that the independent professionals who conducted the investigation "cleared" the staff

member of wrongdoing. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 299 of

the Complaint.

300. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 300 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

301. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 301 of the Complaint.

302. The NRA admits that in 2012, roughly \$18,000 in expenses were incurred at the

direction of a senior staff member, and states that such expenses were subsequently reimbursed to

the NRA with interest. With respect to allegations purporting to characterize testimony elicited by

the NYAG in the course of its investigation, the NRA states that it repeatedly requested, and was

repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and

further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking,

social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the

accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form

a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations purporting to recount witnesses' testimony, and

therefore denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

302 of the Complaint.

303. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 303 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

304. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 304 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

305. The NRA admits allegations set forth in Paragraph 305 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

306 To the extent that Paragraph 306 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit

Committee dated January 5-6, 2019, the NRA states that the Report speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 306 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA

denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 306 of the

Complaint.

307. To the extent Paragraph 307 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr.

LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony

was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to

impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The

NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to

identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 307 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 307 of the Complaint.

308. The allegations in Paragraph 308 of the Complaint purport to quote from,

paraphrase, and characterize testimony of Wayne LaPierre, which speaks for itself. For that reason,

the NRA respectfully refers the court to the transcript of his testimony for its full, complete, and

accurate contents and denies the allegations in Paragraph 308 of the Complaint to the extent they

are inconsistent with the testimony.

309. To the extent the allegation in the first sentence of Paragraph 309 of the Complaint

purports to quote from the NRA's 2019 IRS Form 990, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the

Form 990 for its full, complete, and accurate contents and denies the allegation in the sentence to

DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

the extent it's inconsistent with the Form 990. The NRA denies the allegations in the second sentence of Paragraph 309 of the Complaint except that the NRA admits that the individual referenced in the allegations remains employed at the NRA. The NRA denies the allegation that the individual referenced in the allegation "never answered to a different supervisor." The last two sentences of Paragraph 309 of the Complaint state legal conclusions, which require no response. To the extent a response is required, the NRA denies the allegations.

- 310. The NRA denies the allegations of Paragraph 310 of the Complaint.
- The NRA lacks knowledge or information upon which to form a belief as to the 311. accuracy of the allegations of Paragraph 311 of the Complaint. The NRA, therefore, denies the allegations of Paragraph 311 of the Complaint.
- 312. The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 312 as alleges that Mr. Phillips aided and abetted violations of NRA accounting policies and controls. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 312 of the Complaint.
  - 313. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 313 of the Complaint.
- To the extent that Paragraph 314 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed 314. during the referenced period, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 314 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies that it has not publicly disclosed fees paid to Mercury in 2018.
- 315. The NRA admits the allegations in the first sentence of Paragraph 315 of the Complaint. The NRA admits so much of the second sentence as alleges that "expenses were incurred in violation of the NRA policy and in some instances for the personal benefit of NRA insiders." The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 315.

DOC. NO. 889

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

316 The NRA admits that for decades, its senior leadership, including Mr. LaPierre, sought advice from Ackerman, especially its former CEO, Angus McQueen, on strategic communication, crisis management, and other sensitive matters. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 316 of the Complaint.

- 317. The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 317 as alleges that Mr. LaPierre had a "close" relationship with Tony Makris, the president of the Mercury Group. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 317 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.
- 318. The NRA admits so much of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 318 of the Complaint as alleges that this relationship between the NRA and Ackerman/Mercury Group was terminated and litigation ensued. The NRA denies this remaining allegation of Paragraph 318.
- 319. The NRA admits that there was a Services Agreement between the NRA and Ackerman. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 319 of the Complaint.
- 320. To the extent that Paragraph 320 purports to characterize the Services Agreement, the NRA states that the Agreement speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 320 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.
- 321. The NRA admits that LaPierre met with Ackerman executives, including Angus McQueen, to discuss Ackerman's budget, and that LaPierre was typically joined by Phillips at such meetings. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 321 of the Complaint.
  - 322. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 322 of the Complaint.
  - 323. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 323 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

Paragraph 324 purports to characterize the NRA's pleadings in the matter captioned 324

National Rifle Association of America v Ackerman McQueen, Inc. et al., case No. 19-cv-02074-

G, Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division. The NRA states that the pleadings speak for

themselves, and respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 324 are inconsistent with the referenced

documents, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in

Paragraph 324 of the Complaint.

DOC. NO. 889

325. The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 325 as alleges that Ackerman regularly

passed expenses without justification or appropriate backup. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 325 of the Complaint.

326. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 326 of the Complaint.

327. The NRA admits that Ackerman typically billed the NRA for purported out-of-

pocket expenses, and further admits that the invoices for such expenses were generally transmitted

to the NRA unaccompanied by explanatory details or supporting documents. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 327 of the Complaint.

328. Paragraph 328 of the Complaint contains legal conclusions to which no response is

required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

329. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 329 of the Complaint.

330. Paragraph 330 of the Complaint contains legal conclusions to which no response is

required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies

the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 330 of the Complaint.

331. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 331 of the Complaint.

DOC. NO. 889

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

332 The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 332 of the Complaint.

333. The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 333 as alleges that Ackerman paid \$4,000

a month for some years to II&IS for travel services and passed those expenses on to the NRA. The

NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 333 of the Complaint.

334. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 334 of the Complaint.

335. Paragraph 335 purports to summarize or describe the contents of invoices submitted

by Ackerman to the NRA. The NRA states that the documents speak for themselves, and

respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the

extent that the allegations in Paragraph 335 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the

NRA denies them. The NRA states that to the extent certain expenses were deemed to constitute

excess benefits, Mr. LaPierre has reimbursed that amount to the NRA with interest. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 335 of the Complaint.

336. The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 336 as alleges that Tony Makris

accompanied Mr. LaPierre on a visit to a medical clinic. The NRA denies the remaining allegations

set forth in Paragraph 336 of the Complaint.

337. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 337 of the Complaint.

338. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 338 of the Complaint allege that

Tyler Schropp utilized a credit card issued by Ackerman, the NRA admits the allegations in

Paragraph 338 of the Complaint. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a

belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations, and therefore denies them. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 338 of the Complaint.

The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 339 of the Complaint as alleges that 339.

Ackerman paid for certain event expenses in connection with the Women's Leadership Forum,

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

which were billed to the NRA. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a

belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 339 of the Complaint, and

therefore denies them.

340. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 340 of the Complaint.

341. The NRA admits so much of the allegations contained in Paragraph 341 of the

Complaint as alleges that Mr. Phillips was aware that Ackerman sought reimbursement for

expenses from the NRA. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as

to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 341 of the Complaint.

342. The NRA admits that the NRA attempted in some years to review Ackerman's files,

books, and records to determine whether and to what extent Ackerman was complying with its

obligations in connection with the Services Agreement and the reviews of Ackerman's documents

were conducted in Oklahoma. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

342 of the Complaint.

343. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 343 of the Complaint.

344. The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 344 of the Complaint as alleges that Under

Wild Skies, Inc. ("UWS") produced a television program as described therein, and that the NRA

paid UWS over \$18 million. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 344

of the Complaint.

345. To the extent Paragraph 345 of the Complaint purports to summarize or describe

the contents of contract(s) between the NRA and UWS, the NRA states that the documents speak

for themselves, and respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 345 are inconsistent with the referenced

DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

documents, the NRA denies them. The NRA admits that UWS was paid approximately \$1,957,500 in 2019 by the NRA.

- The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre and his wife appeared in episodes of Under 346. Wild Skies. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 346 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.
- 347. The NRA denies knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 347 of the Complaint, except admits that various NRA officers, directors, spouse(s), and the Executive Director of Advancement participated in hunts that appeared on Under Wild Skies.
- 348. Paragraph 348 of the Complaint contains legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 349. The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 349 of the Complaint as alleges that the NRA paid UWS close to \$50,000 a month for supplemental invoices. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 349 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.
- 350. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 350 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.
- The NRA admits the allegations of Paragraph 351 except as they relate to Mr. 351. LaPierre and states that it lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of those allegations and therefore denies them.
- 352. The NRA admits that during 2019, it received from UWS, and remitted payment for, invoices in the amount of \$97,500 bearing the designation "supplemental invoice." The NRA

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 352 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

353. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 353 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

354. To the extent the allegations set forth in Paragraph 354 of the Complaint contain

conclusions of law, no response is required. The NRA denies the remaining allegations of

Paragraph 354.

The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth 355.

of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 355 of the Complaint, except admits that the termination

of the Executive Director occurred in 2016.

356. To the extent Paragraph 356 of the Complaint purports to summarize or describe

the contents of the Agreement regarding the Termination of Employment, Release, Confidentiality

and Non-Disparagement signed by Kyle Weaver, Lisa Supernaugh, and Wilson Philips on

November 5, 2016, the NRA states that the Agreement speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the

Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 356 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 356 of the Complaint.

357. To the extent Paragraph 357 of the Complaint purports to summarize or describe

the contents of the Agreement regarding the Termination of Employment, Release, Confidentiality

and Non-Disparagement signed by Kyle Weaver, Lisa Supernaugh, and Wilson Philips on

November 5, 2016, the NRA states that the agreement speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the

Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 357 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

358

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

The allegations in Paragraph 358 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or

summarize the contents of the NRA Purchasing Policy, which speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to the Policy for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 358 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

The NRA admits that the consulting agreement did not result from a "competitive bid process."

To the extent Paragraph 359 of the Complaint purports to summarize or describe 359.

the contents of the Agreement regarding the Termination of Employment, Release, Confidentiality

and Non-Disparagement signed by Kyle Weaver, Lisa Supernaugh, and Wilson Philips on

November 5, 2016, the NRA states that the agreement speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the

Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 359 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. The NRA

admits the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 359 of the Complaint.

360. To the extent Paragraph 360 of the Complaint purports to summarize or describe

the contents of the Agreement regarding the Termination of Employment, Release, Confidentiality

and Non-Disparagement dated November 5, 2016, the NRA states that the agreement speaks for

itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents.

To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 360 are inconsistent with the referenced documents,

the NRA denies them. To the extent Paragraph 360 purports to characterize testimony elicited from

Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such

testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be

expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating

arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the

opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph

360 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations.

361. Paragraph 361 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the

NYAG during the course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited

subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede

accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA

further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify

and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 361 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 361 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

362. The NRA admits that the principal of H.W.S. Consulting is an individual who

formerly served as Executive Director of the NRA Foundation until his retirement in 2008. The

NRA further admits that, until 2018, it was party to a Consulting Agreement with H.W.S.

Consulting Inc. (the "HWS Consulting Agreement"). To the extent Paragraph 362 of the

Complaint purports to summarize or describe the contents of the HWS Consulting Agreement, the

NRA states that the Agreement speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such

Agreement for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

362 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 362 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

The NRA states that the HWS Consulting Agreement was entered into thirteen 363

years ago, and predated many relevant NRA policies. The NRA denies the remaining allegations

set forth in Paragraph 363 of the Complaint.

364. To the extent that Paragraph 364 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed

during the referenced period, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully

refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 364 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies

them.

365. To the extent Paragraph 365 of the Complaint purports to summarize or describe

the contents of the HWS Consulting Agreement, the NRA states that the Agreement speaks for

itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such Agreement for its complete and accurate contents.

To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 365 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them.

Paragraph 366 of the Complaint contains legal conclusions to which no response is

required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 366 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

The allegations of Paragraph 367 purport to describe the testimony of the 367.

Foundation Executive. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 367 of the Complaint, and therefore

denies them.

368. The allegations of Paragraph 368 purport to describe the Foundation Executive's

testimony, which speaks for itself. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a

'ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

THE COLUMN TO TH

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 368 of the Complaint, and

therefore denies them.

369. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 369 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

370. To the extent Paragraph 370 of the Complaint purports to summarize or describe

the contents of the HWS Consulting Agreement, the NRA states that the Agreement speaks for

itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such Agreement for its complete and accurate contents.

To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 370 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them. The NRA admits that H.W.S. Consulting was reimbursed for certain

expenses during 2016. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 370 of the Complaint, and

therefore denies them.

371. The NRA admits that the HWS Consulting Agreement was terminated in 2018, and

that the Foundation Executive's expenses were delayed pending documentation. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 371 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

372. The NRA admits that it entered into an incentive compensation agreement to which

Lockton Affinity and a former NRA employee were participants. The NRA further admits that

Lockton Affinity served as a broker for many NRA-related affinity insurance programs, including

Carry Guard. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 372 of the

Complaint.

373. To the extent that Paragraph 373 purports to characterize NRA's 2016 Form 990,

the NRA states that the Form speaks for itself and respectfully refers the Court to such document

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 373 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

The NRA admits upon information and belief that the Managing Director received 374.

consulting fees from Lockton Affinity after his departure from the NRA. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 374 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

375. The NRA admits that Phillips executed a Bonus Structure, Employment Longevity

Incentive and Termination Agreement with a former NRA employee which bore the date July 1,

2014 (the "Bonus Agreement"). To the extent that Paragraph 375 purports to characterize the

Bonus Agreement, the NRA states that the Agreement speaks for itself and respectfully refers the

Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 375 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA

lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 375 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

376. The NRA admits that amendments to the Bonus Agreement were executed, and

respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the

extent that the allegations in Paragraph 376 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the

NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 376 of the

Complaint.

377. To the extent that Paragraph 377 purports to describe or summarize the Consulting

Services Agreement, the NRA states that the Agreement speaks for itself and respectfully refers

the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 377 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

378 Paragraph 378 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the

NYAG during the course of its investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited

subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede

accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA

further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify

and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 378 purporting

to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations.

379. The allegations set forth in Paragraph 379 of the Complaint purport to quote from

a document generated by NRA's external tax and information return preparer. The NRA states that

the document speaks for itself and respectfully refers the court to such document for its complete

and accurate contents.

380. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 380 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

381. Paragraph 381 of the Complaint contains legal conclusions to which no response is

required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies

the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 381 of the Complaint.

382. Upon information and belief, the NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph

382 of the Complaint.

383. The NRA admits that one of its board members, a retired professional football

player, performed consulting work for the NRA from time to time during the referenced period

and received fees and expense reimbursements in connection with the same. The NRA denies

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 383 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

384. To the extent that Paragraph 384 purports to characterize the Memorandum of

Understanding dated January 9, 2016, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself and

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 384 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

385. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 385 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

To the extent that Paragraph 386 purports to characterize the referenced contract, 386.

the NRA states that such document speaks for itself and respectfully refers the Court to such

document for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

386 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the

remaining allegations in Paragraph 386 of the Complaint.

387. The NRA states that the referenced contract was executed in 2002 and predated the

existence of certain requirements referenced by the Complaint. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 387 of the Complaint.

388. Paragraph 388 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit Committee dated

September 2016; the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers

the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in

Paragraph 388 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

389. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 389 of the Complaint.

390. Paragraph 390 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit Committee dated

February 2019, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers

the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

Paragraph 390 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 390 of the Complaint.

391. The NRA admits, upon information and belief, that one of its former board

members is a retired police officer from Iowa, served on the referenced committees, and was not

re-nominated in 2020. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 391 of the Complaint, and

therefore denies them.

392. To the extent that Paragraph 392 purports to characterize a contract the NRA states

that such contract speaks for itself and respectfully refers the Court to it for its complete and

accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 392 are inconsistent with the

referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient

to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 392 of

the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

393. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 393 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

394. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 394 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

395. Paragraph 395 purports to characterize the notes or draft of minutes memorialized

in connection with a September 2016 Audit Committee meeting. The NRA states that such

documents speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such documents for

their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 395 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 395 of the Complaint.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

396 Paragraph 396 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit Committee dated January 2018; the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in

Paragraph 396 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

397 Upon information and belief, the NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 397 of the Complaint.

398. The NRA admits that, at certain relevant times, one of its board members received \$4,000 per month for public speaking and consulting services. To the extent Paragraph 398 of the Complaint purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of the NRA's 2018 Form 990, the NRA states that such form speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 398 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

399. The NRA states that the allegations set forth in Paragraph 399 of the Complaint purport to describe the contents of a "Consultant List" and that the document speaks for itself.

400. Paragraph 400 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit Committee dated January 11, 2018; the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 401 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 400 purport to characterize New York law, they constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 400 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

401 To the extent Paragraph 401 purports to characterize an email chain dated May 15,

2019, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court

to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

401 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

402. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 402 purport to classify any NRA

board member as a "lobbyist" pursuant to any statutory or regulatory scheme defining the same,

they consist of legal conclusions to which no response is required. The NRA admits the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 402 of the Complaint.

403. The NRA admits upon information and belief that Board Member No. 4 was

compensated for public speaking services during the referenced period. The NRA denies the

remaining allegations in Paragraph 403 of the Complaint.

404. To the extent Paragraph 404 purports to characterize an email chain dated May 10,

2016, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court

to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

404 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

405. To the extent Paragraph 405 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit

Committee dated September 2016, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 405 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 405 of the Complaint, and therefore

denies them.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

406 To the extent Paragraph 406 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit

Committee dated January 11, 2018, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 406 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 406 of the

Complaint.

407. Upon information and belief, the NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph

407 of the Complaint.

408. To the extent Paragraph 408 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit

Committee dated April 2019, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 408 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

409. The NRA denies knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 409 of the Complaint, except admits that a Board Member

is a past NRA President, who has been paid at various times for consulting services, and executed

a contract for \$220,000 annually. To the extent Paragraph 409 purports to characterize testimony

elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that

such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably

be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating

arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the

opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

409 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 409 of the Complaint.

- 410. The NRA admits that in 2018, the Audit Committee reviewed and ratified, following its execution, a contract with a Board Member. The NRA further admits that LaPierre was a signatory to such contract, which was also acknowledged by appropriate officers of the Board of Directors. The NRA further admits that the NRA- ILA made grants at relevant times to the United Sportsmen of Florida. To the extent Paragraph 410 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 410 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 410 of the Complaint.
  - 411. Paragraph 411 consists of legal conclusions to which no response is required.
  - 412. Paragraph 412 consists of legal conclusions to which no response is required.
- 413. Paragraph 413 consists of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 414. Paragraph 414 consists of legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 415. Paragraph 415 of the Complaint purports to characterize the NRA's bylaws, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to its bylaws for their complete,

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 415 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

To the extent that Paragraph 416 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed 416. during the referenced period, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 416 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 416 of the Complaint.

- To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 417 consist of legal conclusions 417. regarding the "adequa[cy]" of compensation documentation pursuant to state or federal law, these legal conclusions require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 417 of the Complaint.
- The NRA admits that the Officers Compensation Committee ("OCC") hired 418. executive compensation consultants, including in or about August 2017. The NRA further admits that a consultant delivered a report in or about January 2018 which supported the compensation recommendations made by the OCC and adopted by the Board of Directors that year. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 418 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.
- The NRA admits that the OCC considered, and made recommendations to the 419. Board regarding Phillips's compensation and compensation of other officers. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 419 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.
- The NRA admits that Phillips prepared "talking points" as alleged in Paragraph 420 420. of the Complaint. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the

DOC. NO. 889

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

truth or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 420 of the Complaint, and therefore denies

them.

421. To the extent that Paragraph 421 purports to characterize the Report of Officers

Compensation Committee dated September 7, 2017, the NRA states that the Report speaks for

itself and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents.

To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 421 are inconsistent with the referenced documents,

the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 421 of the

Complaint.

422. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in the first sentence of Paragraph 422, and

admits that Board minutes reflect that the Board adopted the OCC's recommendations. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 422 of the Complaint.

423. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 423 of the Complaint.

424. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 424 of the Complaint.

425. The allegations in Paragraph 425 consist of legal conclusions which require no

response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

426. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 426 purport to characterize the NRA

bylaws, the NRA states that its bylaws speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to

the bylaws for their complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

426 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 426 of the Complaint.

The allegations in Paragraph 427 consist of legal conclusions which require no 427.

response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies

the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 427 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

428 The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 428 of the Complaint.

429. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 429 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

430. The allegations in Paragraph 430 consist of legal conclusions which require no

response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

431. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 431 contend that a particular tax

treatment of particular expenditures was required, they constitute legal conclusions which require

no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 431 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

432. The NRA admits that an employee formerly charged with processing certain

expense reimbursements for Mr. LaPierre incurred an unexpected medical absence in recent years

and that reimbursement of certain expenses was delayed; the NRA states that the financial burdens

of such delay has been borne by Mr. LaPierre, who continued to incur business expenses without

timely reimbursement. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 432 of

the Complaint.

433. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 433 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 434 of the Complaint. The 434.

NRA admits that it was formerly party to a post-employment contract with Mr. LaPierre which

was terminated by mutual consent and denies that it is currently party to any contract containing

the terms described in Paragraph 434.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

435 The NRA states that it was formerly party to a post-employment contract with Mr. LaPierre which was terminated by mutual consent and denies that it is currently party to any contract containing the terms described in Paragraph 435. To the extent Paragraph 435 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it requested, and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 435 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 435 of the Complaint.

To the extent Paragraph 436 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr. 436. LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The NRA further states that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 436 purporting to characterize Mr. LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 436 of the Complaint.

To the extent that Paragraph 437 purports to characterize a letter agreement dated 437. March 16, 2015, the NRA states that the letter speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

MVCCEE DOC NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

Court to such letter for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in

Paragraph 437 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 437 of the Complaint.

438. To the extent that Paragraph 438 purports to characterize a memorandum dated

April 30, 2018, the NRA states that the memorandum speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to such memorandum for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 438 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

439. To the extent that Paragraph 439 purports to characterize a memorandum dated

April 30, 2018, the NRA states that the memorandum speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to such memorandum for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 439 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

The NRA states that it is not party to any contract containing the terms set forth in the referenced

memorandum. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 439 of the

Complaint.

440. To the extent Paragraph 440 purports to characterize testimony elicited from Mr.

LaPierre by the NYAG during the course of its investigation, the NRA states that such testimony

was elicited subject to substantial COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to

impede accurate transcription, including masking and socially-distant seating arrangements. The

NRA further states that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata

in the NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to

form a belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 440 purporting to characterize Mr.

LaPierre's testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The remaining allegations in

DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

Paragraph 440 consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

The NRA admits so much of Paragraph 441 as alleges that the Board approved a 441.

"new Employment Agreement for Lapierre." The remaining allegations in paragraph 441 state

legal conclusions, to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA

denies such allegations.

442. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 442 of the Complaint.

443. The NRA admits that during his tenure as an NRA executive and officer, Phillips

had an NRA-issued credit card. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 443 purport to argue

for particular tax treatment of particular expenditures, they consist of legal conclusions which

require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The

NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 443 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

444. The allegations in Paragraph 444 consist of legal conclusions which require no

response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

445. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 445 purport to characterize the NRA

bylaws, the NRA states that its bylaws speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to

the bylaws for their complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

445 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

446. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell was paid the referenced salaries during or about

the referenced periods, and further admits that Mr. Powell received additional unauthorized

benefits. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 446 of the Complaint, and therefore

denies them.

DOC. NO. 889

447. To the extent that Paragraph 447 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed

in 2017 and 2018, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully refers the

Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 447 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. The NRA

lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 447 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

448. The allegations in Paragraph 448 consist of legal conclusions which require no

response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

449. To the extent that Paragraph 449 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 and

CHAR500, the NRA states that the documents speak for themselves and respectfully refers the

Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 449 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

450. To the extent that Paragraph 450 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed

during the referenced period, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully

refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 450 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies

them.

451. The allegations in Paragraph 451 consist of legal conclusions which require no

response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

To the extent that Paragraph 452 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed 452.

in 2017 and 2018, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully refers the

'ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

THE COLUMN TO TH

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 452 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

453. The NRA admits that Mr. Powell failed to provide sufficient justification for certain

expenses, and states that the NRA terminated Mr. Powell. The remaining allegations in Paragraph

453 consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required,

the NRA denies such allegations.

454. To the extent that Paragraph 454 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed

during the referenced period, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully

refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 454 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies

them.

455. To the extent that Paragraph 455 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed

during the referenced period, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully

refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 455 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies

them.

456. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 456 of the Complaint.

457. To the extent that Paragraph 457 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed

during the referenced period, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully

refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 457 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies

them. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 457 purport to assess the legal sufficiency or

DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

implications of the NRA's tax filings, such allegations constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

458. To the extent that Paragraph 458 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed during the referenced period, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 458 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 458 purport to assess the legal sufficiency or implications of the NRA's tax filings, such allegations constitute legal conclusions to which no

459. The allegations in Paragraph 459 consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

- 460. To the extent that Paragraph 460 purports to characterize NRA's Forms 990 filed during the referenced period, the NRA states that the Forms speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 460 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.
- 461. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre had discussions with Lt. Col. Oliver North in spring 2018 concerning North's potential candidacy for NRA President. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 461 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.
- To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 462 purport to characterize the NRA 462 bylaws, the NRA states that its bylaws speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to the bylaws for their complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph

ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

MYCCEE DOC NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

462 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 462 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

463. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 463 purport to excerpt or characterize

deposition testimony, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to the transcript of such testimony for

its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 463 are

inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 463 of the Complaint.

464. To the extent that Paragraph 464 purports to characterize a fax received on April

22, 2018, the NRA states that the fax speaks for itself and respectfully refers the Court to such fax

for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 464 purport

to excerpt or characterize deposition testimony, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to the

transcript of such testimony for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 464 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA

lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 464 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

465. The NRA admits that on May 6, 2018, it executed an amended Services Agreement

with Ackerman and Mercury Group, Inc.; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 465

purport to describe or summarize the Services Agreement, the NRA states that the Agreement

speaks for itself and respectfully refers the Court to such Agreement for its complete and accurate

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 465 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 465 of

the Complaint.

466

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

The NRA admits that North entered into an Employment Agreement with Ackerman on or about May 15, 2018. To the extent that Paragraph 466 purports to characterize

the Employment Agreement, the NRA states that the Agreement speaks for itself and respectfully

refers the Court to such Agreement for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 466 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them.

The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the

remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 466 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 467 of the Complaint. 467.

468. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in the first sentence of Paragraph 468 of

the Complaint. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in the second sentence of Paragraph 468, and therefore denies

them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 468 of the Complaint.

469. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 469 of the Complaint.

470. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 470 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 471 of the Complaint. 471.

The NRA admits that the Brewer firm was initially retained in March 2018, and 472.

that its work included issues involving NRA affinity partners. To the extent that the allegations in

Paragraph 472 purport to require the NRA to admit or deny the content of legal advice sought by

counsel, work performed by counsel, or other privileged matter, the NRA declines to respond to

such allegations on grounds of attorney-client privilege and the work product doctrine. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 472 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

473 The NRA denies that it failed to consider other firms as alternatives to the Brewer

firm in 2018, and states that it considered, and from time to time employed, several competitor

firms. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 473 purport to require the NRA to admit or

deny the content of legal advice sought by counsel, work performed by counsel, or other privileged

matter, the NRA declines to respond to such allegations on grounds of attorney-client privilege

and the work product doctrine. To the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such

allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 473 of the Complaint.

The NRA admits that Mr. Frazer negotiated an engagement letter with the Brewer

firm and prepared a business case analysis in connection with the same. To the extent that

Paragraph 474 purports to characterize the business case analysis, the NRA states that the

document speaks for itself and respectfully refers the Court to such documents for its complete

and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 474 are inconsistent with the

referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA further admits that Mr. Frazer is one of

several individuals who has been responsible for reviewing and approving payment of the Brewer

firm's invoices at relevant times. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

474 of the Complaint.

475. The NRA admits that the Audit Committee memorialized, during a meeting on

March 8, 2019, the matter referenced in Paragraph 475, but denies that any "Board resolution" was

adopted to such effect. The NRA further denies that any NRA policy "required written approval

from the President and a Vice President' for the retention of counsel in 2018. The NRA states that

the Audit Committee resolved on April 28, 2019, that the NRA's retention of the Brewer firm "was

duly authorized" and that a copy of the foregoing resolution was provided by the NRA to the

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

NYAG more than a year before the NYAG filed this lawsuit. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 475 of the Complaint.

476. The NRA denies the allegations in Paragraph 476 of the Complaint.

477. The allegations in Paragraph 477 purport to describe and summarize letters sent by

North to named recipients in March 2019; the NRA respectfully refers the Court to such letters for

their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 477 are

inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies such allegations.

The allegations in Paragraph 478 purport to describe and summarize letters and 478.

memoranda sent by North to named recipients in March 2019; the NRA respectfully refers the

Court to such letters for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in

Paragraph 478 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies such allegations.

479. The NRA admits that an outside law firm was hired to review the Brewer firm's

engagement in March 2019 and that the firm determined the engagement had been duly authorized.

To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 479 purport to require the NRA to admit or deny

the content of additional legal advice sought from or work performed by the above-referenced law

firm, the NRA declines to respond to such allegations on grounds of attorney-client privilege and

the work product doctrine. To the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

480. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 480 of the Complaint.

To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 481 purport to characterize testimony 481.

elicited by the NYAG in the course of its investigation, the NRA states that it repeatedly requested,

and was repeatedly denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts,

and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking,

social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the

NVSCFF DOC NO 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form

a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 481 purporting to recount witnesses'

testimony, and therefore denies such allegations. The NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

481 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

482. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre raised concerns about North's relationship with

Ackerman in 2018. The NRA states that others, including the employee whistleblowers referenced

throughout the Complaint, raised similar concerns. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set

forth in Paragraph 482 of the Complaint.

483. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre instructed North to cease and desist from

attempts to interfere with certain work by the Brewer firm—including work related to North's

employer, Ackerman—that gave rise to overt conflicts of interest for North (such legal matters,

the "Conflict Matters"). The NRA denies that it prevented North from accessing Brewer invoices

unrelated to the Conflict Matters, and states that North received detailed briefings from the Brewer

firm on matters apart from the Conflict Matters. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 483

purport to characterize letters sent by Mr. LaPierre to North in March or April 2019, the NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such letters for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 483 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA

denies such allegations.

484. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 484 purport to characterize letters

sent by Mr. LaPierre to North in February 2019, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to such

letters for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 484

are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies such allegations.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

485. The NRA admits the allegations in the first sentence of Paragraph 485 of the

Complaint. Regarding allegations purporting to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in

the course of its investigation, the NRA states that it repeatedly requested, and was repeatedly

denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states

that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing,

and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of

transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 485 purporting to recount witnesses' testimony, and

therefore denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

485 of the Complaint.

486. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 486 purport to summarize or describe

a letter dated April 25, 2019, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to such letter for its complete

and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 486 are inconsistent with the

referenced document, the NRA denies such allegations.

487. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 487 purport to summarize or describe

the referenced letter, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to such letter for its complete and

accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 487 are inconsistent with the

referenced document, the NRA denies such allegations.

488. The NRA admits that as of the date of this Answer, North did not resign as an NRA

member or NRA director. The NRA further admits that its Bylaws contemplate a process for

involuntary termination from membership for cause. The NRA further admits that, in response to

an Amended Complaint by an NRA member in good standing seeking the expulsion of North from

the NRA membership pursuant to Article III Section 11 of the NRA's Bylaws, the Ethics

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

Committee of the NRA Board reviewed the complainant's allegations and determined that they warrant North's expulsion if proved or were not contested. The NRA further admits that North through counsel was then advised that at the hearing, contemplated by its Bylaws, the complainant NRA member would be permitted to argue for North's expulsion from the NRA and North would be permitted to defend himself. The NRA further admits that North originally requested to have a hearing but later alleged that the hearing would violate New York law and that the NRA then sought, *inter alia*, a declaratory judgment, and that such litigation is ongoing but presently stayed. In that litigation, the NRA also seeks damages from North for violations of his fiduciary and statutory duties to the NRA and for his conspiracy with others to violate such duties. The NRA further admits that the NRA asserted these claims against North based on his obstructive behavior to protect a lucrative contract with Ackerman and impede the NRA's compliance efforts and by being paid millions of dollars for making a documentary series he and Ackerman failed to deliver. In the litigation, the NRA also seeks a declaratory judgment that because North failed to resign from Ackerman in or around June 2019, he forfeited his position on the NRA Board. The NRA

489. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 489 purport to summarize or describe a letter dated July 22, 2019, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to such letter for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 489 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies such allegations.

denies the remaining allegations in Paragraph 488 of the Complaint.

490. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 490 purport to summarize or describe a letter sent on August 1, 2019 by three former Board members to the NRA, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to such letter for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

allegations in Paragraph 490 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies such

allegations.

491. To the extent that Paragraph 491 purports to characterize the contents of

"correspondence" or "social media posts" by outside directors, the NRA lacks knowledge or

information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of such allegations, and therefore

denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 491 of the

Complaint.

492. The NRA admits that Board members resigned from the NRA's Board in or around

summer of 2019. The NYAG does not specify to whose purported testimony the second sentence

of paragraph 492 refers; the NRA therefore has no knowledge or information sufficient to form a

belief as to the accuracy of the allegation in the second sentence of Paragraph 492, and therefore

denies the allegation.

493. The NRA denies the allegation in Paragraph 493 of the Complaint.

The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 494 of the Complaint. 494.

495. The allegations in Paragraph 495 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions

which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

496. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 496 purport to summarize or describe

the Mission Statement of the NRA Audit Committee, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to the

Mission Statement for its complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in

Paragraph 496 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies such allegations.

With respect to allegations in Paragraph 497 of the Complaint purporting to

characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states

that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such

as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to

diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 497 purporting to

recount witnesses' testimony, and therefore denies such allegations.

498. With respect to allegations in Paragraph 498 purporting to characterize testimony

elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states that it requested, and was

denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states

that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing,

and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of

transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of allegations purporting to recount witness's testimony, and therefore denies

such allegations in paragraph 498. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in

Paragraph 498 of the Complaint.

499. With respect to allegations in Paragraph 499 of the Complaint purporting to

characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states

that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's

transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such

as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to

diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 499 purporting to

recount witness's testimony, and therefore denies such allegations.

500. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 500 of the Complaint.

COUNTY CLERK

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

501 With respect to allegations in Paragraph 501 of the Complaint purporting to

characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states

that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's

transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such

as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to

diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 501 purporting to

recount witness's testimony, and therefore denies such allegations.

502. The allegations in Paragraph 502 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions

which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

The allegations in Paragraph 503 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or 503.

summarize the contents of the Statement of Corporate Ethics, which speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to the Statement for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that

the allegations in Paragraph 503 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies

them.

504. The allegations in Paragraph 504 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions

which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 504 of the Complaint except

admits that members of its Audit Committee were aware of the whistleblowers' concerns.

505. With respect to allegations in paragraph 505 purporting to characterize testimony

elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states that it requested, and was

denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states

that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing,

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of

transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 505 purporting to recount witnesses' testimony, and

therefore denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

506 of the Complaint.

506. The NRA admits that a group of employee whistleblowers compiled a document

titled "List of Top Concerns for the Audit Committee" which they presented to the Audit

Committee in July 2018. To the extent that Paragraph 506 purports to characterize the referenced

memorandum, the NRA states that the memorandum speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers

the Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations

in Paragraph 506 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 506 of the Complaint.

507. The NRA admits that the Audit Committee held a meeting on August 30, 2018 and

that it regards the referenced employees as whistleblowers who raised their concerns with the

Audit Committee pursuant to the NRA whistleblower policy. With respect to allegations

purporting to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the

NRA states that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the

NYAG's transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19

precautions such as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be

reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in

Paragraph 507 purporting to recount witnesses' testimony, and therefore denies such allegations.

NIVOGEE DOG NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

The NRA denies that the meeting of the Audit Committee of the NRA Board of Directors which

occurred on July 30, 2018, constituted or was denominated as an "emergency" meeting.

508. With respect to allegations in Paragraph 508 of the Complaint purporting to

characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states

that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's

transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such

as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to

diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in paragraph 508 purporting to

recount witnesses' testimony, and therefore denies such allegations. The NRA states the Audit

Committee's meeting ran several hours longer than expected. The NRA states that the Audit

Committee chair was aware serious whistleblower concerns would be, and were, raised at the

meeting, and dedicated substantial time and attention to investigating and addressing them.

509. To the extent that Paragraph 509 purports to characterize the content of a personal

statement, the NRA states that the statement speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the

Court to such document for its complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in

Paragraph 509 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA

values the whistleblower for her diligence and courage, and states that she subsequently received

a significant promotion.

510. To the extent that Paragraph 510 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit

Committee dated September 2018, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 510 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

denies them. The NRA admits that certain previous Audit Committee reports contained the notation "there were no instances of whistleblowing reported," and that no such annotation appeared with respect to the July 30, 2018 meeting, wherein whistleblowing occurred. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 510 of the Complaint.

- 511. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 511 of the Complaint.
- 512. With respect to allegations purporting to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 512 purporting to recount witnesses' testimony, and therefore denies such allegations. To the extent that Paragraph 512 alleges any intentional or knowing inaccuracy in the Report of the Audit Committee documenting the Committee's July 30, 2018, meeting, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA states that RSM met repeatedly with the Audit Committee during the third quarter of 2018 in advance of the filing of the NRA's 2017 Form 990, and states that attendee notes from the referenced meeting specifically note RSM's presence. The NRA states that if RSM was not in attendance, any erroneous reference to RSM's attendance was unintentional. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 512 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.
- 513. The NRA admits that RSM corresponded with and interviewed Audit Committee members and finance staff, including multiple NRA whistleblowers, during 2018. The NRA

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

further admits that certain NRA staff were well-aware of the whistleblowers' concerns. With

respect to allegations in Paragraph 513 concerning RSM's work papers, the NRA lacks

information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of such allegations, and therefore

denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 513 of the

Complaint.

514. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 514 of the Complaint.

515. With respect to allegations in Paragraph 515 purporting to characterize testimony

elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states that it requested, and was

denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states

that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing,

and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of

transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 515 purporting to recount witness testimony, and

therefore denies such allegations. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 515 purport to

require the NRA to admit or deny the content of legal advice sought by counsel, work performed

by counsel, or other privileged matter, the NRA declines to respond to such allegations on grounds

of attorney-client privilege, the work product doctrine, and the trial preparation privilege. To the

extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 515 of the Complaint.

516. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 516 of the Complaint.

517. To the extent Paragraph 517 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of

the NRA Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy, the NRA states that the Policy

speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate

-----

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 517 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them. In addition, to the extent that allegations in Paragraph 517 set

forth legal conclusions, no response is required. To the extent a response is required, the NRA

denies the allegations.

518. To the extent Paragraph 518 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of

the NRA Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy, the NRA states that the Policy

speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 518 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them. In addition, to the extent that allegations in Paragraph 518 set

forth legal conclusions, no response is required. To the extent a response is required, the NRA

denies the allegations.

519. To the extent Paragraph 519 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of

the NRA Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy, the NRA states that the Policy

speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 519 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 519 purport to

characterize New York law, they constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to

the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

520. To the extent Paragraph 520 purports to describe and/or summarize the contents of

the NRA Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transaction Policy, the NRA states that the Policy

speaks for itself, and respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate

contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 520 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 520 purport to

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

characterize New York law, they constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to

the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

521. The allegations in Paragraph 521 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions

which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

522 The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 522 of the Complaint.

523. The NRA admits that in September 2016, the Audit Committee reviewed

transactions in approximately the designated amounts. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph

523 apparently paraphrase a specific document, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to the

document for its full, complete, and accurate contents and context. Moreover, to the extent the

document is inconsistent with the allegations, the NRA denies them.

524. To the extent that Paragraph 524 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit

Committee dated September 2016, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 524 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

525. The NRA admits that during 2017, the Audit Committee reviewed and ratified

transactions in approximately the designated amounts. The NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

525 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 525

apparently paraphrase a specific document, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to the document

for its full, complete, and accurate contents and context. Moreover, to the extent the document is

inconsistent with the allegations, the NRA denies them.

COUNTY CLERK

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

526 To the extent that Paragraph 526 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit

Committee dated September 2018, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 526 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

527. To the extent that Paragraph 527 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit

Committee dated September 2018, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 527 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 527 of the

Complaint.

528. To the extent that Paragraph 528 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit

Committee dated September 2018, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 528 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them.

529. The NRA admits that the Audit Committee did not review a copy of the North-

Ackerman contract prior to its execution and was not aware of its material terms. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 529 purport to characterize the requirements of New York law,

they constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is

required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in

Paragraph 529 of the Complaint.

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

530. The NRA admits that the Audit Committee reviewed what it believed to be a summary of the contract's material terms. With respect to allegations purporting to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 530 purporting to recount witnesses' testimony, and therefore denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 530 of the Complaint.

531. To the extent that Paragraph 531 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit Committee dated September 2018, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 531 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. With respect to allegations purporting to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 531 purporting to recount witness testimony, and therefore denies such allegations.

FILED: NEW TORK COUNTY CLERK II,

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

532. The NRA admits that Ackerman ultimately invoiced the NRA for the entire cost of

North's employment contract, including salary, benefits, and perquisites, irrespective of whether

North actually filmed the video documentary series contemplated by the purported summary of

material terms which the Audit Committee reviewed. The NRA states that this was a subject of

litigation between the NRA and Ackerman. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in

Paragraph 532 of the Complaint.

533. To the extent that Paragraph 533 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit

Committee dated September 2018, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 533 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 533 of the

Complaint.

534. To the extent that Paragraph 534 purports to characterize the Reports of the Audit

Committee dated April 28, 2019 and May 30, 2019, the NRA states that the Reports speak for

themselves. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete, accurate

contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 535 are inconsistent with the referenced

document, the NRA denies them. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 534 state legal

conclusions, no response if required. If a response is required, the NRA denies the allegations. The

NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 534 of the Complaint.

535. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 535 of the Complaint.

536. The allegations in Paragraph 536 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions

which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

COUNTY CLERK

DOC. NO. 889

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

The allegations in Paragraph 537 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or 537

summarize the contents of the Audit Committee Charter, which speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to the Audit Committee Charter for its complete, accurate contents;

to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 537 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them.

538. The NRA admits that RSM was the NRA's external auditor between 2008 and

2019. The allegations in Paragraph 538 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require

no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies

the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 538 of the Complaint.

The allegations in Paragraph 539 of the Complaint purport to describe and/or 539.

summarize the contents of the Audit Committee Charter, which speaks for itself. The NRA

respectfully refers the Court to the Audit Committee Charter for its complete, accurate contents;

to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 539 are inconsistent with the referenced document,

the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations of Paragraph 539 of the

Complaint.

540. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 540 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

The NRA denies the allegation that the Audit Committee never communicated 541.

anything to RSM about passthrough expenses incurred through Ackerman. The NRA lacks

knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 541 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them.

542. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 542 purport to excerpt or characterize

deposition testimonies, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to the transcripts of such testimonies

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

for their complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 542 are

inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

543. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 543 purport to excerpt or characterize

deposition testimonies, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to the transcripts of such testimonies

for their complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 543 are

inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. With respect to allegations

concerning RSM's work papers, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a

belief as to the truth or falsity of such allegations, and therefore denies them.

544. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 544 of the Complaint.

With respect to allegations in Paragraph 545 of the Complaint purporting to 545.

characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states

that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's

transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such

as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to

diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 545 purporting to

recount witness testimony, and therefore denies such allegations.

With respect to allegations in Paragraph 546 of the Complaint purporting to 546.

characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states

that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's

transcripts, and further states that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such

as masking, social distancing, and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to

diminish the accuracy of transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 547 purporting to recount witness testimony, and therefore denies such allegations.

3,

547. The allegations in Paragraph 547 of the Complaint purport to characterize audit-

planning presentations delivered by RSM, which speak for themselves. The NRA respectfully

refers the Court to the presentations for their complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 547 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies

them.

548. The NRA admits that the Audit Committee relied on RSM to perform applicable

tests as part of its annual audit. With respect to allegations purporting to characterize testimony

elicited by the NYAG in the course of its investigation, the NRA states that it requested, and was

denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states

that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing,

and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of

transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 548 purporting to recount witness testimony, and

therefore denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

548 of the Complaint.

549. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 549 of the Complaint.

550. The allegations in Paragraph 550 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions

which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

551. The allegations in Paragraph 551 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions

which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

552. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 552 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

553 Paragraph 553 purports to characterize testimony elicited by the NYAG during the

course of her investigation. The NRA states that such testimony was elicited subject to substantial

COVID-19 precautions which could reasonably be expected to impede accurate transcription; for

example, the testimony referenced here was conducted by videoconference, with the witness

situated in a remote area and tasked with printing and organizing his own exhibits. The NRA

further states that it requested, and was denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the

NYAG's transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a

belief as to the accuracy of allegations in Paragraph 553 purporting to characterize or excerpt the

referenced testimony, and on that basis denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in Paragraph 553 of the Complaint.

To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 554 purport to excerpt or characterize 554.

deposition testimonies, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to the transcripts of such testimonies

for their complete and accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 554 are

inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them.

555. The NRA admits that outside counsel participated in formulating, and Mr. Frazer

and Mr. Powell at times participated in delivering, compliance training presentations. The NRA

denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 555 of the Complaint.

556. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 556 of the Complaint.

The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 557 of the Complaint. 557.

558. With respect to allegations in Paragraph 558 purporting to characterize testimony

elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states that it requested, and was

denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states

that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing,

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of

transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of allegations in Paragraph 558 purporting to recount witness testimony, and

therefore denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph

558 of the Complaint.

559. To the extent Paragraph 559 purports to characterize the NRA Conflict of Interest

and Related Party Transaction Policy, the NRA states that the Policy speaks for itself, and

respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents. To the extent

that the allegations in Paragraph 559 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA

denies them. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

or falsity of the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 559 of the Complaint, and therefore

denies them.

560. With respect to allegations in Paragraph 560 purporting to characterize testimony

elicited by the NYAG in the course of her investigation, the NRA states that it requested, and was

denied, the opportunity to identify and rectify errata in the NYAG's transcripts, and further states

that many witnesses testified subject to COVID-19 precautions such as masking, social distancing,

and/or videoconference which would be reasonably expected to diminish the accuracy of

transcripts. Accordingly, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to

the truth or falsity of allegations purporting to recount witness testimony, and therefore denies

such allegations. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 560 purport to characterize New

York law, they constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a

response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA denies the remaining allegations

set forth in Paragraph 560 of the Complaint.

MAGGEE DOG NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

561. The NRA denies the first sentence of Paragraph 561 of the Complaint. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of the allegations set forth in the second sentence of Paragraph 561 of the Complaint, and therefore denies them. To the extent Paragraph 561 purports to characterize the Report of the Audit Committee regarding the meeting on July 30, 2018, the NRA states that such document speaks for itself. The NRA respectfully refers the Court to such document for its complete, accurate contents; to the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 561 are inconsistent with the referenced document, the NRA denies them. The NRA states that the Chair of the Audit Committee was provided with a copy of the Top Concerns memorandum after the meeting; with respect to the allegation that he did not receive his copy from, specifically, the Vice Chair, the NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of such allegation, and therefore denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 561 of the Complaint.

- 562. The allegations in Paragraph 562 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 563. The allegations in Paragraph 563 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 564. To the extent that Paragraph 564 purports to characterize NRA's CHAR500s for the referenced years, the NRA states that the documents speak for themselves and respectfully refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the allegations in Paragraph 564 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 564 of the Complaint.
  - 565. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 565 of the Complaint.

TIDED: NEW TORK COUNTY CHERK II/O

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

566. To the extent that Paragraph 566 purports to characterize NRA's CHAR500s for

the referenced years, the NRA states that the documents speak for themselves and respectfully

refers the Court to such documents for their complete and accurate contents. To the extent that the

allegations in Paragraph 566 are inconsistent with the referenced documents, the NRA denies

them. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 566 of the Complaint.

567. The allegations in Paragraph 567 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions

which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

568. The NRA admits that the Attorney General commenced this action on August 6,

2020. The NRA admits that it has undertaken a compliance review and remediation process and

that it did so under the direction of its Executive Vice President and CEO Wayne LaPierre and its

Board of Directors. The NRA, however, denies that the review and the remediation did not begin

until after the Attorney General commenced this action. To the contrary, the NRA embarked upon

a compliance review and remediation—to which the NRA's has referred as "course correction"—

long before the Attorney General commenced her investigation of the NRA. The NRA denies that

its undertaking of the compliance review and remediation process is merely "purported." The NRA

denies the remainder of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 568 of the Complaint.

569. The NRA admits that in or around late 2019, it retained Aronson LLC as, among

other things, the NRA's external auditor and to assist the NRA in preparation of its IRS Form 990

and other regulatory filings. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 569

of the Complaint.

570. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief as to the truth

of the allegation set forth in Paragraph 570 of the Complaint and therefore denies the allegation.

COUNTY CLERK

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

571 The allegations in Paragraph 571 of the Complaint purport to characterize statements in certain documents. The NRA therefore respectfully refers the court to these documents for their full, complete, and accurate contents. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 571 are inconsistent with such documents, the NRA denies such allegations.

- 572 The NRA admits that it has received clean audit opinions from both RSM and Aronson, in which the outside auditors concluded that the NRA's financial statements fairly and accurately reflected in material respects its financial condition. The remaining allegations in Paragraph 572 of the Complaint appear to be based on documents prepared by Aronson. Those documents speak for themselves and the NRA respectfully refers the court to the documents for their full, complete, and accurate contents. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 572 of the Complaint to the extent they are inconsistent with the documents.
- 573. The NRA admits that it received clean audit opinions from RSM. To the extent the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 573 of the Complaint are based on testimony of its officers or directors, the NRA respectfully refers the court to their testimony for full, complete, and accurate contents of their testimony. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 573 of the Complaint to the extent they are inconsistent with such testimony.
  - 574. The NRA denies the allegation set forth in Paragraph 574 of the Complaint.
  - 575. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in Paragraph 575 of the Complaint.
- 576. To the extent that the allegations of paragraph 576 purport to characterize or paraphrase a letter from Aronson, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the text of the letter for its full, complete, and accurate contents. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the letter.

complete, accurate contents.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

The NRA admits that on or about November 17, 2020, the NRA filed its IRS Form 577. 990 for 2019 with the IRS and the NYAG. The NRA admits that the Form 990 contains various schedules, including Schedules J and L. The allegations concerning what the Form 990 filing requires constitute legal conclusions to which no response is required; to the extent a response is required, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to the instructions to the IRS Form 990 for their

578. The NRA admits that in past years RSM signed the NRA's Form 990. The NRA admits that it retained Aronson to, among other things, assist in preparing the NRA's federal and state information and tax returns for the year ended December 31, 2019. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 578 of the Complaint.

579. The NRA admits that its Form 990 was in past years signed on behalf of the NRA by the NRA's Treasurer and CFO and that its Treasurer and CFO did not sign the NRA's Form 990 for year ending December 31, 2019. The NRA does not have sufficient facts or information to form a belief as to the then-Treasurer's "original inten[tion]" or the reasons why he did not sign the Form 990. The NRA denies that its Treasurer and CFO was not able to verify the accuracy of any disclosures set form in the Form 990.

- 580. The NRA denies that several of its Board were "routinely" traveling first class or that their travel violated NRA policy. The NRA also denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 580 in the Complaint as to what a diligence process undertaken by the then-Treasurer and CFO led him to uncover. The NRA admits that it answered "No" to certain questions in its 2019 IRS Form 990. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 580 of the Complaint.
- 581. The NRA admits that on or about November 11, 2020, the then-Treasurer and CFO of the NRA sent an email message to his staff and others. The NRA denies the remaining

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

allegations set forth in the first sentence of Paragraph 581 of the Complaint. To the extent the

second sentence of Paragraph 581 quotes from the email message sent by the NRA's then-

Treasurer and CFO, the email message and the surrounding email thread speak for themselves and

the NRA respectfully refers the court to the document for its complete, accurate contents.

Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations in Paragraph 581 of the Complaint to the extent that

they are inconsistent with the document.

582. The NRA admits that its then-Treasurer and CFO knew before the November 16,

2020 filing deadline that the NRA's 2019 Form 990 would include disclosures regarding potential

excess benefits. The last sentence of Paragraph 582 in the Complaint states a legal conclusion to

which no response is required. To the extent a response is required, the NRA denies the allegation.

The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 582 of the Complaint, including

the allegation that the then-Treasurer and CFO was denied access to underlying information that

supported the calculations in the NRA's disclosure.

583. The NRA admits that in connection with the preparation of the NRA's 2019 Form

990, its then-Treasurer and CFO requested certifications from various individuals and that certain

of the requested certifications were not provided. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set

forth in Paragraph 583 of the Complaint. In addition, to the extent the allegations in Paragraph 583

of the Complaint purport to characterize the then-Treasurer and CFO's written communications

with other individuals, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the relevant communications for

their complete and accurate contents and denies the allegations set forth in paragraph 583 to the

extent they are inconsistent with such communications.

584. The NRA lacks knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief about the

reason why its then-Treasurer and CFO did not sign its Form 990 by the filing deadline. The NRA

COUNTY CLERK

INDEX NO. 451625/2020 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

admits that its Executive Vice President and CEO Wayne LaPierre signed its Form 990 for 2019.

The NRA denies that this was a "departure" from the NRA's prior practice.

585. The NRA admits that its Board of Directors met on or about January 7, 2021 and

that certain of the NRA's officers, including but not limited to its then-Treasurer and CFO, were

not asked to attend the meeting. The NRA denies all other allegations set forth in Paragraph 585

of the Complaint.

586. To the extent the allegation in the first and second sentences of Paragraph 586 of

the Complaint purport to paraphrase or characterize testimony of the NRA's former Treasurer and

CFO, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the transcript of that testimony for its complete and

accurate contents and denies the allegation to the extent it is inconsistent with his and other

witnesses' testimony. The NRA admits that the individual who was appointed in 2021 to serve as

the NRA's interim CFO was also elected at an NRA Board of Directors meeting on or about May

2, 2021, to become the NRA's Treasurer. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in

Paragraph 586 of the Complaint.

The NRA admits that on or about January 29, 2021, an email message was 587.

circulated within the NRA and that it announced the departure of its former Treasurer and CFO.

To the extent the first sentence in Paragraph 587 of the Complaint attempts to characterize the

content of a written communication, the NRA respectfully refers the Court to the document for its

complete, accurate contents and denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the

communication. The second sentence in Paragraph 587 of the Complaint purports to quote from

statements made by Wayne LaPierre at a meeting of the NRA's creditors held pursuant to 11 U.S.C.

341. The NRA therefore respectfully refers the court to the transcript of that meeting for its

complete, accurate contents and denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the

NYGGEE DOG NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

transcript. The NRA denies the allegation set forth in the third sentence of Paragraph 587 of the

Complaint. The last sentence in Paragraph 587 of the Complaint purports to quote from testimony

of the NRA's former Treasurer and CFO. The NRA therefore respectfully refers the Court to the

transcript of that testimony for its complete, accurate contents and denies the allegation to the

extent it is inconsistent with that or the individual's subsequent testimony.

588. The first sentence of Paragraph 588 of the Complaint refers to the disclosure by the

NRA in its 2019 Form 990; the NRA therefore respectfully refers the court to the filing for its

complete, accurate contents. The NRA denies the second sentence of paragraph 588 of the

Complaint.

589. The NRA denies the allegation set forth in Paragraph 589 of the Complaint. The

NRA does not possess facts or information sufficient to form a belief as to how the IRS describes

a "diversion." To the extent the second sentence in Paragraph 589 purports to quote from a

document published by the IRS, the document speaks for itself and the NRA respectfully refers

the court to the document for its complete, accurate contents.

590. With respect to the first sentence of Paragraph 590 of the Complaint, the NRA

admits that Schedule L to its 2019 Form 990 referred to Wayne LaPierre, Joshua Powell, Oliver

North, and Christopher Cox. With respect to the balance of allegations in Paragraph 590 of the

Complaint, they purport to quote from, paraphrase and characterize statements in the NRA's 2019

Form 990. The NRA therefore respectfully refers the court to the Form 990 for its complete,

accurate contents and denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the disclosure.

591. The allegation in Paragraph 591 of the Complaint purports to paraphrase and

characterize statements in the NRA's 2019 Form 990. The NRA therefore respectfully refers the

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

court to the Form 990 for its complete, accurate contents. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations to the to the extent they are inconsistent with the Form 990.

- 592. The NRA admits that it asserted claims against former Executive Director of NRA-ILA in a confidential arbitration and that he denied the allegations asserted against him in the arbitration. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 592 of the Complaint purport to reflect statements in the NRA's 2019 Form 990, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the regulatory disclosure for its complete, accurate contents and denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the disclosure. The NRA denies the remaining allegations set forth in Paragraph 592 of the Complaint.
  - 593 The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 593 of the Complaint.
  - 594. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 594 of the Complaint.
- 595. The NRA admits that it had previously entered into contracts with Allegiance, Concord, and MMP and that such contracts were signed in December 2011. The NRA further states that these previously executed contracts have been replaced by an agreement between the NRA and Allegiance, dated as of August 1, 2022. The NRA further states that, under this contract with Allegiance, "the NRA retains the explicit right to hire other vendors for any . . . membership solicitations and communications." The last two sentences of Paragraph 595 of the Complaint purport to describe the terms of written contracts, which speak for themselves; the NRA therefore respectfully refers the court to the contracts for their full, accurate contents. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the contracts.
  - 596. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 596 of the Complaint.
- The NRA admits that in the course of its course correction, compliance review, and 597. remediation process, it sent letters to dozens of its vendors, including the MMP entities. To the

NYSCEF DOC NO 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

extent the allegations in Paragraph 597 of the Complaint purport to characterize the NRA's written

communications to the MMP entities, which speak for themselves, the NRA respectfully refers the

court to the documents for their complete, accurate content. Furthermore, the NRA denies the

allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the documents. The NRA lacks facts and

information sufficient to form a belief as to the remainder of the allegations set forth in Paragraph

597 of the Complaint.

598. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 598 of the Complaint refer to statements

in the NRA's filing with the Bankruptcy Court, that filing speaks for itself and the NRA

respectfully refers the court to the relevant court filing for its full, accurate contents. Furthermore,

the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with filing. The NRA also

otherwise denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 598 of the Complaint.

599. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 599 of the Complaint. The

NRA further states that these previously executed contracts have been replaced by an agreement

between the NRA and Allegiance, dated as of August 1, 2022. The NRA further states that, under

this contract with Allegiance, "the NRA retains the explicit right to hire other vendors for any . . .

membership solicitations and communications."

600. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 600 of the Complaint purport to

characterize contents of a contract, that contract speaks for itself and the NRA respectfully refers

the court to the full copy of the document for its full, complete, and accurate contents. Furthermore,

the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the document. The NRA

further states that this previously executed contract has been replaced by an agreement between

the NRA and Allegiance, dated as of August 1, 2022. The NRA further states that, under this

contract with Allegiance, "the NRA retains the explicit right to hire other vendors for any . . .

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

membership solicitations and communications." The NRA denies the remainder of allegations set

forth in Paragraph 600 of the Complaint.

601. To the extent the allegations in Paragraph 601 purport to characterize contents of a

contract, that contract speaks for itself and the NRA respectfully refers the court to the full text of

the contract for its complete, accurate contents. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations to

the extent they are inconsistent with the contract. The NRA further states that this previously

executed contract has been replaced by an agreement between the NRA and Allegiance, dated as

of August 1, 2022. The NRA further states that, under this contract with Allegiance, "the NRA

retains the explicit right to hire other vendors for any . . . membership solicitations and

communications." The NRA denies the remainder of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 601 of

the Complaint.

602. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 602 of the Complaint.

The NRA admits the allegations set forth in the first sentence of Paragraph 603 of 603.

the Complaint. The NRA admits that Sea Girt is a for-profit Texas-domiciled company and is

wholly owned by the NRA. The NRA denies, however, that Sea Girt is a "shell company." The

NRA admits the allegation set forth in the third sentence of paragraph 603 of the Complaint.

604. The NRA admits that the decision to file the chapter 11 petition was made and

approved by the NRA's Executive Vice President and CEO Wayne LaPierre and the Special

Litigation Committee of the NRA's Board of Directors. The NRA denies the allegation in

Paragraph 616 that the decision to file for chapter 11 protection was made without consulting with

anyone other than those individuals enumerated in the second sentence of Paragraph 604 of the

Complaint. The NRA also notes that the subject matter of the NRA's communications with its

inhouse or outside counsel is subject to various privileges, including the attorney-client

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

communication privilege, the attorney work product privilege, and the trial preparation privilege.

As a result, no response is required with regard to the allegation that the NRA's officers consulted

with outside counsel with regard to a particular matter. The third sentence of Paragraph 604 of the

Complaint contains a legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the extent a response

is required, the NRA denies the allegation.

605. The NRA admits that the Special Litigation Committee is a committee of its Board

of Directors and that the committee was formed in or around September 2020 to, among other

things, oversee certain pending litigation, including this Action. The NRA denies that the purpose

for the formation of the Special Litigation Committee is merely "purported." The NRA admits that

the members of the Special Litigation Committee are Carolyn Meadows, Charles Cotton, and

Willes Lee. The last sentence and the block quote in Paragraph 605 of the Complaint quote from

a document, which speaks for itself. Therefore, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the

document for its full, accurate contents and denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent

with the document.

606. The NRA admits that Mr. LaPierre and Mr. Frazer recused themselves from certain

matters because they are named as defendants in this action.

607. The NRA admits the allegation set forth in Paragraph 607 of the Complaint. To the

extent the last sentence and the block quote in Paragraph 607 of the Complaint purport to

characterize and quote from a resolution, the resolution speaks for itself and the NRA respectfully

refers the court to the text of the resolution of its complete, accurate contents. Moreover, the NRA

denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the text of the resolution.

608. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 608 of the Complaint.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

609. The NRA admits that on or about January 7, 2021, the NRA's Board of Directors

approved an agreement between the NRA and Mr. LaPierre. To the extent the allegation in

Paragraph 609 purports to characterize an agreement, the agreement speaks for itself and the NRA

respectfully refers the court to the agreement for its full, complete, and accurate contents.

Moreover, the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the agreement.

Also, to the extent the allegation in Paragraph 609 calls for a legal conclusion, no response is

required. The NRA admits, however, that the agreement specifically enumerates a non-exhaustive

list of authority granted to Wayne LaPierre by the NRA's Board of Directors and such authority

specifically includes "corporate authority in furtherance of the mission and interests if the NRA,

including without limitation to reorganize or restructure the affairs of the Association for purposes

of cost minimization, regulatory compliance or otherwise."

610. To the extent the agreement between the NRA and its Executive Vice President and

CEO contains certain language, the agreement speaks for itself; the NRA therefore respectfully

refers the court to the full text of the agreement for its complete, accurate contents and denies the

allegation in Paragraph 610 to the extent it is inconsistent with the agreement.

611. The allegation in Paragraph 611 of the Complaint purports to characterize

testimony by the NRA's Executive Vice President and CEO Wayne LaPierre. Such testimony

speaks for itself, and the NRA respectfully refers the court to the full transcript of such testimony

for its complete, accurate contents. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they

are inconsistent with the testimony.

It is not clear to whose intention the allegation in Paragraph 612 refers. Therefore, 612.

the NRA has no knowledge or information upon which to form a belief as to the accuracy of the

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

allegation. Moreover, to the extent the allegation purports to state a legal conclusion, no response

is required.

613. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 613 of the Complaint.

614. The NRA admits the allegation in the first sentence of Paragraph 614 of the

Complaint. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in the second sentence of Paragraph 614 of

the Complaint. The last sentence in Paragraph 614 appears to refer to a prior statement by the

NRA's former First Vice President—and its present President—Charles Cotton. The statement to

which the allegation refers speaks for itself. Therefore, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the

full statement for its complete, accurate contents and context and denies the allegations to the

extent they are inconsistent with the statement.

615. The NRA admits the allegations set forth in the first sentence of Paragraph 615 of

the Complaint. The second sentence of Paragraph 615 calls for a legal conclusion, which does not

require a response. To the extent a response is required, the NRA denies the allegation.

616. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 616 of the Complaint.

The NRA admits that not every member of its 76-member Board knew, before the 617.

bankruptcy filing, that the NRA was intending to file for chapter 11 protection. The second

sentence of Paragraph 617 of the Complaint refers to alleged statements by "several board

members" and purports to characterize the meaning of such statements. The NYAG does not

specify to what statements she refers in that sentence. As a result, the NRA does not have sufficient

facts or information upon which to form a belief as to the NYAG's allegations about what "several"

Board members purportedly asserted. In any case, to the extent the second sentence of Paragraph

617 of the Complaint refers to written records, those records speak for themselves and the NRA

respectfully refers the court to those records for their full, complete, and accurate contents and

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

context. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with such records. With regard to the third sentence of Paragraph 617 of the Complaint, the NRA admits that on or about January 15, 2021, Mr. Frazer received an email message from a Board member about the bankruptcy filing. To the extent the third sentence purports to quote from the email message, the NRA notes that the email message speaks for itself and respectfully refers the court to the email message for its full, complete, and accurate content and context. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the email message. The NRA admits that, on or about January 19, 2021, the Board member who sent the email message discussed in the third sentence of Paragraph 617 of the Complaint resigned from the NRA's Board of Directors. However, the NRA denies that the Board member was not "able to effectively perform the duties of a director." The NRA does not have knowledge or other information upon which it can form a belief about what the Board member believed. Lastly, to the extent the last sentence of Paragraph 617 of the Complaint quotes from a written communication from a Board member, the communication speaks for itself and the NRA respectfully refers the court to the full text of that communication for its full, complete, and accurate contents. Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the communication.

618. The NRA's Board of Directors consists of 76 Board members. The allegation in Paragraph 618 of the Complaint does not identify the Board members to which it purports to refer. Therefore, the NRA does not have knowledge or information upon which to form a belief as to the accuracy of the allegation in the first sentence of Paragraph 618 of the Complaint. The second sentence of Paragraph 618 of the Complaint appears to paraphrase and characterize testimony by a Board member, which speaks for itself. Therefore, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the

COUNTY CLERK

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

full transcript of that testimony for its full, complete, and accurate contents. Furthermore, the NRA

denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the testimony.

619. The NRA does not have sufficient facts or other information upon which to form a

belief as to whether the allegation in Paragraph 619 is accurate; therefore, the NRA denies the

allegation. Moreover, to the extent the allegation asserts a legal conclusion as to the approvals

required for the NRA's chapter 11 filing, no response is required. To the extent a response is

required and to the extent the NYAG alleges that the chapter 11 petition was filed without proper

approval, the NRA denies such allegation.

The NRA denies the allegations in the first sentence of Paragraph 620 of the 620.

Complaint. The NRA does not have knowledge or information upon which to form a belief as to

the accuracy of the second sentence of Paragraph 620 of the Complaint. Therefore, the NRA denies

the allegation.

The NRA does not possess knowledge or other information upon which it can form 621.

a belief as to the accuracy of the allegation set forth in Paragraph 621 of the Complaint. Therefore,

the NRA denies the allegation.

622. The NRA does not possess sufficient knowledge or other information upon which

it can form a belief as to the accuracy of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 622 of the Complaint.

Therefore, the NRA denies the allegations. To the extent the allegations imply that Mr. Frazer's

approval of the payment to the NRA's bankruptcy counsel was required, the allegation states a

legal conclusion to which no response is required. To the extent a response is required, the NRA

denies the allegation.

623. The NRA denies the allegation set forth in the first sentence of Paragraph 623 of

the Complaint. The NRA denies the allegation set forth in the second sentence of Paragraph 623

ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

NVSCEE DOC NO 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

of the Complaint. The NRA admits that the purpose of the \$5 million wire transfer was to pay legal

fees and costs in connection with the NRA's bankruptcy. The NRA denies the remaining

allegations set forth in the third sentence of Paragraph 623 of the Complaint. The NRA denies the

allegation set forth in the fourth sentence of Paragraph 623 of the Complaint. Moreover, to the

extent that allegation purports to quote from the former Treasurer and CFO's statement, such a

statement speaks for itself and the NRA respectfully refers the court to the full statement for full,

complete, and accurate contents of the statement. The NRA denies the allegation set forth in the

last sentence of Paragraph 623 of the Complaint. Moreover, to the extent that sentence asserts a

legal conclusion, no response is required.

624. The NRA does not have sufficient facts or other information upon which to form a

belief as to the accuracy of the allegations set forth in Paragraph 624 of the Complaint. The NRA

therefore denies the allegations.

625. The NRA admits that it filed for bankruptcy based on its belief that, by filing this

lawsuit, the Attorney General of the state of New York was misusing her authority to deliver on a

campaign promise—made while she ran for office in 2018—that, if elected, she would "take

down" the NRA whom she accused of being a "weapon of deadly propaganda" and with whose

political speech she said she disagreed. The NRA further admits that it filed for bankruptcy

because, when on August 6, 2020, the Attorney General filed this action, the Attorney General did

not stop at seeking remedies sufficient to address the misconduct that she alleged; rather, consistent

with her campaign promise, she sought to dissolve the NRA. The NRA further admits that it filed

for bankruptcy because the NRA believed that the Attorney General failed to state facts sufficient

to support the drastic relief she sought. In fact, in her filings before the Bankruptcy Court, she

conceded that she was required to show public harm to obtain dissolution; yet her complaint in

COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

this action contained no allegations of public harm. To the extent that the allegation in paragraph 625 of the Complaint asserts that the foregoing was proper "regulatory oversight," the NRA denies

626. The allegations in Paragraph 626 of the Complaint refer to testimony of the NRA's

Executive Vice President and CEO Wayne LaPierre. That testimony speaks for itself. Therefore,

the NRA respectfully refers the court to the full transcript of such testimony for its full, complete,

and accurate contents and denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the

testimony.

such an allegation.

627. The NRA respectfully refers the court to its response to the allegations set forth in

Paragraph 627 of the Complaint. Furthermore, to the extent the Paragraph 627 appears to refer to

or quote from certain public statements made by the NRA or testimony of Mr. Frazer, those

statements and testimony speak for themselves. The NRA therefore respectfully refers the court to

the full statements and the transcript of the testimony for their full, complete, and accurate contents.

Furthermore, the NRA denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the testimony.

The NRA admits that its Executive Vice President and CEO Wayne LaPierre authorized its press

release referenced in the fourth sentence of Paragraph 627 of the Complaint.

The NRA admits that after the NRA filed for chapter 11 protection in part because 628.

it believed that the Attorney General of the state of New York was misusing her authority by

seeking to dissolve the NRA through this action, the Attorney General appeared in the NRA's

chapter 11 proceeding and sought the alternative remedies alleged in Paragraph 628 of the

Complaint. The NRA further admits that Ackerman McQueen sought the same relief.

629. The NRA admits that on or about May 11, 2021, the Bankruptcy Court dismissed

the NRA's chapter 11 petition after finding that it was not filed for a purpose contemplated by the

'ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

MYGGEE DOG NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

Bankruptcy Code and that—therefore—the proceeding was not filed in "good faith" as that term

is used by bankruptcy courts. The NRA denies that at any point it acted without good faith.

Moreover, the allegations in Paragraph 629 of the Complaint refer to an opinion and order by the

Bankruptcy Court, which speaks for itself. Therefore, the NRA respectfully refers the court to the

text of the opinion and order for their full, complete, and accurate contents and denies the

allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the opinion or the order.

630. The allegations in Paragraph 630 characterize and quote from an opinion and order

by the Bankruptcy Court, which speaks for itself. Therefore, NRA respectfully refers the court to

the full text of that opinion and order for their full, complete, and accurate contents. To the extent

the contents of that opinion and order are inconsistent with the allegations set forth in Paragraph

630 of the Complaint, the NRA denies them.

631. The allegation in the first sentence of Paragraph 631 of the Complaint purports to

characterize and quote from the Bankruptcy Court's Opinion and Order, which speak for

themselves. The NRA therefore respectfully refers the court to the full text of that opinion and

order for their full, complete, and accurate contents. Moreover, to the extent the Opinion and Order

are inconsistent with the allegations, the NRA denies them. The NRA denies the allegation in the

second sentence of Paragraph 631 of the Complaint.

632. The NRA admits that it has stated that the findings by the bankruptcy court

comprehensively undermine the Attorney General's allegations in this action. The NRA denies,

however, that the NRA's statement was "misleading" or "untrue." In fact, in his opinion and order,

the Bankruptcy Judge found that the NRA now understands the importance of compliance, that it

can continue to fulfil its mission, that it can continue to improve its governance, and that it can

continue to improve its internal controls. Moreover, the Court referred to testimony by the NRA's

ILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

MYCCEE DOC NO 000

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

former treasurer and CFO, whom the Court found credible, that none of the course correction would have been possible without the support of the NRA's Executive Vice President and CEO Wayne LaPierre. With regard to the allegations in the third sentence of Paragraph 632 of the Complaint, to the extent the NYAG attempts to characterize and quote from the Bankruptcy

Court's opinion and Order, the Opinion and Order speak for themselves. The NRA therefore

respectfully refers the court to the full opinion and order for their full, complete, and accurate

contents and denies the allegations to the extent they are inconsistent with the opinion/order.

633. In Paragraph 633 of the Complaint, the NYAG attempts to characterize and quote

from the Bankruptcy Court's Opinion and Order. The Opinion and Order speak for themselves.

The NRA denies the allegations in Paragraph 633 of the Complaint to the extent they are

inconsistent with the Opinion and Order.

634. To the extent the first sentence of Paragraph 634 of the Complaint states a legal

conclusion regarding a purported conflict of interests, no response is required. If a response is

required, the NRA denies that allegation, and otherwise denies allegations set forth in the first

sentence of Paragraph 634 of the Complaint. The NRA admits that the Bankruptcy court dismissed

the NRA's chapter 11 proceeding after finding that it was filed for a purpose that is not

contemplated by the Bankruptcy Code and that therefore the chapter 11 proceeding was not filed

in "good faith" as that term is used by bankruptcy courts. The NRA denies, however, any allegation

that at any point it did not act in good faith. The NRA further denies that the "bankruptcy" "cost

the NRA tens of millions of dollars" in the enumerated fees and costs. The NRA admits that in

2021, Wayne LaPierre was re-elected by the NRA's 76-member board as the NRA's Executive

Vice President. Further, the NRA admits that Wayne LaPierre continues to serve also as the NRA's

CEO.

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

#### CAUSES OF ACTION

## FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF EPTL 8-1.4 (AGAINST **DEFENDANT NRA)**

- No response is called for by Paragraph 635 of the Complaint, and the NRA 635. reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 634 as if fully set forth herein.
- 636. Paragraph 636 contains a statement of law and therefore requires no response from the NRA.
- 637. Paragraph 637 contains a statement of law and therefore requires no response from the NRA.
  - 638. The NRA denies the allegation.
- 639. Paragraph 639 contains a statement of law and therefore requires no response from the NRA.
- Paragraph 640 contains a statement of law and therefore requires no response from 640. the NRA.
- 641. The allegations in Paragraph 641 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 642. The allegations in Paragraph 642 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 643. The allegations in Paragraph 643 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

## SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY UNDER N-PCL §§ 717 AND 720 AND REMOVAL UNDER N- PCL §§ 706(d) AND 714(c) (AGAINST DEFENDANT LAPIERRE)

644. No response is called for by Paragraph 644 of the Complaint, and the NRA reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 643 as if fully set forth herein.

COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

The allegations in the Second Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, 645. therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies

the allegations.

The allegations in the Second Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, 646.

therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies

the allegations.

647. The allegations in the Second Cause of Action are not against the NRA and,

therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies

the allegations.

The allegations in the Second Cause of Action are not against the NRA and,

therefore, no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have

breached their legal duties to the NRA, to have diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, or otherwise

caused damage to the NRA, any damages or other sums for which they are found liable must be

paid to the NRA. Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies

the allegations.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY TO THE NRA UNDER N-PCL §§ 717 AND 720 AND REMOVAL UNDER N-PCL §§ 706(d) AND 714(c) (AGAINST DEFENDANT FRAZER)

649. No response is called for by Paragraph 649 of the Complaint, and the NRA

reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 648 as if fully set forth herein.

650. The allegations in the Third Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore,

no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the

allegations.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

651 The allegations in the Third Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

- The allegations in the Third Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, 652. no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.
- 653. The allegations in the Third Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have breached their legal duties to the NRA, diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, or otherwise caused damage to the NRA, any damages or other sums for which they are found liable must be paid to the NRA. Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

## FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY TO THE NRA UNDER N-PCL §§ 717 AND 720 (AGAINST DEFENDANT PHILLIPS)

- No response is called for by Paragraph 654 of the Complaint, and the NRA reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 653 as if fully set forth herein.
- 655. The allegations in the Fourth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.
- 656. The allegations in the Fourth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.
- The allegations in the Fourth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, 657. therefore, no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have breached their legal duties to the NRA, diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, or otherwise caused

SCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

damage to the NRA, any damages or other sums for which they are found liable must be paid to the NRA. Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

## FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY TO THE NRA UNDER N-PCL §§ 717 AND 720 (AGAINST DEFENDANT POWELL)

- No response is called for by Paragraph 658 of the Complaint, and the NRA 658. reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 657 as if fully set forth herein.
- 659. The allegations in the Fifth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.
- The allegations in the Fifth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, 660. no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.
- 661. The allegations in the Fifth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have breached their legal duties to the NRA, diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, or otherwise caused damage to the NRA, any damages or other sums for which they are found liable must be paid to the NRA. Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

## SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF EPTL § 8-1.4 (AGAINST **DEFENDANT LAPIERRE)**

- 662. No response is called for by Paragraph 662 of the Complaint, and the NRA reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 661 as if fully set forth herein.
- 663. The allegations in the Sixth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

The allegations in the Sixth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, 664 no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the

allegations.

665. The allegations in the Sixth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore,

no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have breached

their legal duties to the NRA, diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, or otherwise caused damage

to the NRA, any damages or other sums for which they are found liable must be paid to the NRA.

Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF EPTL § 8-1.4 (AGAINST DEFENDANT FRAZER)

No response is called for by Paragraph 666 of the Complaint, and the NRA 666.

reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 665 as if fully set forth herein.

667. The allegations in the Seventh Cause of Action are not against the NRA and,

therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies

the allegations.

668. The allegations in the Seventh Cause of Action are not against the NRA and,

therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies

the allegations.

669. The allegations in the Seventh Cause of Action are not against the NRA and,

therefore, no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have

breached their legal duties to the NRA, diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, or otherwise caused

damage to the NRA, any damages or other sums for which they are found liable must be paid to

the NRA. Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the

allegations.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF EPTL § 8-1.4 (AGAINST **DEFENDANT PHILLIPS)** 

No response is called for by Paragraph 670 of the Complaint, and the NRA 670.

reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 669 as if fully set forth herein.

671. The allegations in the Eighth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and,

therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies

the allegations.

SCEF DOC. NO. 889

672. The allegations in the Eighth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and,

therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies

the allegations.

The allegations in the Eighth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, 673.

therefore, no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have

breached their legal duties to the NRA, diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, or otherwise caused

damage to the NRA, any damages or other sums for which they are found liable must be paid to

the NRA. Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the

allegations.

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF EPTL § 8-1.4 (AGAINST **DEFENDANT POWELL)** 

674. No response is called for by Paragraph 674 of the Complaint, and the NRA

reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 673 as if fully set forth herein.

675. The allegations in the Ninth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and,

therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies

the allegations.

FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

676. The allegations in the Ninth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

677. The allegations in the Ninth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have breached their legal duties to the NRA, diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, or otherwise caused damage to the NRA, any damages or other sums for which they are found liable must be paid to the NRA. Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

# TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION – FOR ALLEGED WRONGFUL RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS – N-PCL §§ 112(a)(10), 715(f) AND EPTL § 8-1.9(c)(4) (AGAINST DEFENDANT LAPIERRE)

- 678. No response is called for by Paragraph 678 of the Complaint, and the NRA reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 677 as if fully set forth herein.
- 679. The allegations in the Tenth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.
- 680. The allegations in the Tenth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.
- 681. The allegations in the Tenth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have breached their legal duties to the NRA, diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, otherwise caused damage to the NRA, or caused a benefit to be improperly bestowed upon themselves, any damages

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

or other sums for which they are found liable must be paid to the NRA. Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

## ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION – FOR ALLEGED WRONGFUL RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS - N-PCL §§ 112(a)(10), 715(f) AND EPTL § 8-1.9(c)(4) (AGAINST **DEFENDANT POWELL)**

- 682. No response is called for by Paragraph 682 of the Complaint, and the NRA reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 681 as if fully set forth herein.
- 683. The allegations in the Eleventh Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.
- 684. The allegations in the Eleventh Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.
- 685. The allegations in the Eleventh Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have breached their legal duties to the NRA, diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, or otherwise caused damage to the NRA, any damages or other sums for which they are found liable must be paid to the NRA. Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

## TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION – FOR ALLEGED WRONGFUL RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS - N-PCL §§ 112(a)(10), 715(f) AND EPTL § 8-1.9(c)(4) (AGAINST **DEFENDANT PHILLIPS)**

686. No response is called for by Paragraph 686 of the Complaint, and the NRA reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 685 as if fully set forth herein.

SCEF DOC. NO. 889

the allegations.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

687 The allegations in the Twelfth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies

- 688. The allegations in the Twelfth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. To the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.
- 689. The allegations in the Twelfth Cause of Action are not against the NRA and, therefore, no response is required. The NRA agrees that, should any individual be found to have breached their legal duties to the NRA, diverted or wasted assets of the NRA, or otherwise caused damage to the NRA, any damages or other sums for which they are found liable must be paid to the NRA. Otherwise, and to the extent a response is deemed necessary, the NRA denies the allegations.

## THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION – FOR ALLEGED WRONGFUL RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS - N-PCL §§ 112(a)(10), 715(f) AND EPTL § 8-1.9(c)(4) (AGAINST DEFENDANT NRA)

- 690. No response is called for by Paragraph 690 of the Complaint, and the NRA reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 689 as if fully set forth herein.
- 691. The allegations in Paragraph 691 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 692. The allegations in Paragraph 692 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 693. The allegations in Paragraph 693 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 694. The allegations in Paragraph 694 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

695. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 695 of the Complaint.

696. The allegations in Paragraph 696 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations. The NRA also understands, based on a representation during a meet and confer call on October 5, 2022 by Assistant Attorney General Monica Connell, that, despite the reference to "damages" in Paragraph 696 of the Complaint, the NYAG does not contend that the NRA should be liable for damages; rather, that the reference to "damages" in this paragraph is included to

## FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED VIOLATION OF THE WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS OF N-PCL § 715-b AND EPTL § 8-1.9 (AGAINST **DEFENDANT NRA)**

preserve the NYAG's right to seek damages from entities other than the NRA.

- 697. No response is called for by Paragraph 697 of the Complaint, and the NRA reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 696 as if fully set forth herein.
- 698. The allegations in Paragraph 698 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
- 699. The allegations in Paragraph 699 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.
  - 700. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 700 of the Complaint.
- 701 The allegations in Paragraph 701 of the Complaint consist of legal conclusions which require no response; to the extent a response is required, the NRA denies such allegations.

## FIFTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION - FOR ALLEGED FALSE FILINGS UNDER EXECUTIVE LAW §§ 172-d(1) AND 175(2)(d) (AGAINST DEFENDANT NRA AND FRAZER)

- 702. No response is called for by Paragraph 702 of the Complaint, and the NRA reincorporates its responses to Paragraphs 1 through 701 as if fully set forth herein.
  - 703. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 703 of the Complaint.

FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

704. The NRA denies the allegations set forth in Paragraph 704 of the Complaint.

FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

FIDED. NEW TORK COUNTY CHERK II/O

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

**DEFENSES AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES** 

A. ADDITIONAL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

The NRA reincorporates and re-alleges preceding paragraphs hereof as if fully set forth

herein.

Beginning prior to the institution of her investigation into the NRA, continuing through

until the present date, Plaintiff has engaged in a series of egregious actions designed to harm the

NRA and to retaliate against the NRA for its constitutionally protected advocacy for Second

Amendment freedoms. These actions, though disguised as a legitimate attempt at law enforcement

are, in fact, the realization of Plaintiff's personal vendetta against the NRA and those who support

the Second Amendment. Plaintiff's unclean hands are evidenced by, including but not limited to,

the following actions she has undertaken:

a) Prior to taking office and prior to commencing an investigation into the NRA, Plaintiff

made highly damaging and defamatory false statements about the NRA, including

referring to the NRA as a "criminal enterprise" and a "terrorist organization."

b) In addition, Plaintiff has coordinated and conspired with Everytown for Gun Safety

("Everytown"), an entity which was founded to serve as a "counterweight" to the NRA.

c) Unlike the NRA, which has over five million members, Everytown is largely funded

by one person, staunch anti-gun advocate Michael Bloomberg.

d) Because Everytown was founded and exists solely to further Michael Bloomberg's

anti-gun agenda, Everytown is not a credible source of information about the NRA.

e) Yet, on information and belief, because Plaintiff is also personally opposed to the

NRA's constitutionally-protected Second Amendment advocacy, Plaintiff has ignored

Everytown's lack of credibility and, instead has coordinated with Everytown in crafting

and pursing this action.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

f) In fact, a representative of the NYAG in sum and substance refused to deny at a deposition that if the NYAG succeeded on her now-dismissed claims to dissolve the NRA, she planned to distribute some or all of the NRA's assets to Everytown.

- g) Seeking to cause maximum damage to the NRA and to proponents of the Second Amendment, Plaintiff also coordinated with the Attorney General for the District of Columbia ("DCAG"), to induce the DCAG to commence a meritless action against both the NRA and the NRA Foundation (NRAF), a 501(c)(3) organization which supports the NRA's mission (the "DCAG Action").
- h) The DCAG commenced the DCAG Action against the NRA and the NRAF on the same date the instant action was filed.
- i) On information and belief, the DCAG Action was filed at the insistence of Plaintiff, to further her own personal vendetta against NRA.
- Plaintiff's involvement in the commencement and prosecution of the DCAG Action will be substantiated by discovery of communications between Plaintiff's office and the DCAG's office.
- k) The actions detailed herein, along with those other actions to be uncovered during discovery, were specifically designed to cause maximum damage to the NRA and to infringe upon and chill the First Amendment rights of the NRA and its supporters.
- 1) As a result of Plaintiff's egregious conduct, the NRA's reputation has been harmed, and the NRA has suffered damages.
- m) Plaintiff's unclean hands require all allegations against the NRA to be dismissed.

#### B. THE NRA'S DEFENSES AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

1. The NRA reincorporates and re-alleges preceding paragraphs hereof as if fully set forth herein. The NRA asserts these affirmative defenses without waiver of other applicable

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

defenses or affirmative defenses not included here. The NRA reserves the right to assert additional defenses and affirmative defenses.

### INTERVENING AND SUPERSEDING ACTIONS

2. The damages suffered by Plaintiff or by any third party, as well as any statutory or regulatory violations alleged, were proximately caused by intervening and superseding actions and occurrences including, but not limited to, actions of persons, entities, and/or forces over which the NRA exerted no control and for which the NRA has no responsibility.

## PAYMENT, ACCORD AND SATISFACTION

3. The causes of action asserted against the NRA in the Complaint, and related requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA are barred, in whole or in part, by payment, accord and satisfaction.

#### RATIFICATION

4. Plaintiff's attempt to enjoin, void or rescind alleged related-party transactions pursuant to N-PCL §§ 112(a)(10), 715(f), and EPTL § 8-1.9(c)(4) fails because, to the extent such transactions were not approved in accordance with N-PCL § 715(a)-(b), they were duly ratified in accordance with N-PCL § 715(j).

## **DE MINIMIS TRANSACTIONS**

5 Transactions were de minimis under N-PCL 102(a)(24) and, therefore, they did not constitute "related party transactions." De minimis transactions may include, without limitation, meal or travel reimbursements or other incidental or low-dollar-value benefits conferred on related parties in connection with their work for the NRA.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

DE MINIMIS FINANCIAL INTEREST

6. The alleged financial interest of allegedly related parties who participated in certain

transactions was de minimis under N-PCL 102(a)(24) and, therefore, they did not constitute

"related party transactions."

ORDINARY COURSE OF BUSINESS EXEMPTION

7. Transactions would not customarily be reviewed by the board or boards of

organizations similar to the NRA in the ordinary course of business, were available to others on

the same or similar terms, and, therefore, did not constitute "related party transactions."

**CLASS OF BENEFICIARIES EXEMPTION** 

8. Transactions were a benefit provided to an alleged related party solely as a member

of a class of the beneficiaries that the NRA intended to benefit as part of the accomplishment of

its mission. The benefit was available to all similarly situated members of the same class on the

same terms. Therefore, transactions did not constitute "related party transactions."

LACK OF AUTHORITY

9. Individuals who purported to act on behalf of the NRA in connection with certain

of the transactions at issue were not authorized to enter into such transactions on behalf of the

NRA.

RELATIVE CULPABILITY

10. The relative culpability of each party who is or may be liable for the damages

alleged by Plaintiff should be determined in accordance with the decisional and statutory law of

the state of New York, and the equitable share of each party's liability for contribution should be

determined and apportioned in accordance with the relative culpability, if any, of each such party

pursuant to Article 14 of the CPLR.

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

GOOD FAITH

11. The NRA has no liability under any of the causes of action asserted against it in the

Complaint to the extent that officers and directors of the NRA whose conduct Plaintiff attempts to

impute to the NRA discharged their responsibilities in good faith and with the degree of diligence,

care, and skill which ordinarily prudent persons in a similar position would exercise in like

circumstances and at all times, and acted in good faith and relied on information, opinions, or

reports of reasonable reliability either presented or available to them.

**BUSINESS JUDGMENT RULE** 

12. The NRA has no liability under any of the causes of action asserted against it in the

Complaint because it purports to deprive its officers, directors, employees or other agents of their

statutory business judgment rule defense and thus violates the fault-based scheme codified by the

New York Legislature with respect to the regulation of not-for-profit corporations and officers,

directors and other persons associated with such corporations.

**NON-IMPUTATION** 

13. The NRA has no liability under any of the causes of action asserted against it in the

Complaint. To the extent officers, directors, employees, or other agents of the NRA whose conduct

Plaintiff attempts to impute to the NRA did not discharge their responsibilities in good faith or

with the degree of diligence, care, and skill which ordinarily prudent persons in a similar position

would exercise in like circumstances, they acted ultra vires, not in the scope of their duties to the

NRA, did not act in part or in whole for the benefit of the NRA or with the intent to benefit the

NRA and their actions did not benefit the NRA. Their alleged misconduct cannot be imputed to

the NRA.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

THIRD PARTY ACTS AND OMISSIONS

14. The causes of action asserted against the NRA in the Complaint, and related

requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA, are barred to the extent acts or

omissions of third parties caused the alleged injury or damages.

**MOOTNESS** 

15. The causes of action asserted against the NRA in the Complaint, and related

requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA, are unwarranted and moot because

the NRA acted at all times in good faith and because there is no substantial likelihood that the

NRA will violate the statutes, rules, or provisions specified in the Complaint's causes of action or

in "Prayer for Relief."

DEMAND FUTILITY

16. Plaintiff's attempt to bring a derivative action in behalf of the NRA cannot be

sustained due to its failure adequately to allege the futility of making a demand upon the NRA

Board of Directors. Further, the Attorney General has not only failed to allege with particularity,

but cannot allege, that a majority of the Board is conflicted with self-interest, or is controlled by

self-interested persons, concerning transactions at issue. Director nominations occur through a

nominating committee—which gets candidates from innumerable sources including

advertisements in NRA Magazine and in response to requests made to Members for suggested

Directors—or by petition, or both, after which approximately one-half of the NRA's five million

members are eligible to vote for Directors of their preference. The particular circumstances

presented by these nomination and election protocols hopelessly defeat the Attorney General's

necessary threshold allegations to establish demand futility.

CLERK COUNTY

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

17. The causes of action asserted against the NRA in the Complaint, and related

requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA, including for mandatory injunctive

relief, such as the appointment of an independent compliance monitor, in whole or in part, ought

to be barred by, and should be dismissed under, the First Amendment to the United States

Constitution, under which state regulation of not-for-profit corporations engaged in protected

speech must occur in the least intrusive manner possible. The relief sought against the NRA in

this action also trespasses upon fundamental freedoms protected by the due process clause of the

Fourteenth Amendment because the effect of such remedies would be to abridge the NRA's and

its members' right to engage in the expression of free speech and association with other supporters

and defenders of the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution in support of their

common beliefs. Such relief would also have the effect of chilling freedom of speech and assembly

and curtailing the constitutionally protected freedoms to associate and freedoms to speak freely on

Second Amendment and other issues. "In considering requests for equitable relief, courts . . .

should consider its effect on First Amendment rights." Dobbs, D. B., & Roberts, C. L. (n.d.). Dobbs

and Roberts's Law of Remedies, Damages, Equity, Restitution, 3d (Hornbook Series) at page 101.

Here, the concern for First Amendment rights is particularly acute. After all, Attorney General

James targeted the NRA because of the substance of its constitutionally protected speech. In 2018,

Attorney General James pledged to "take on" the NRA and businesses that support it. She

proclaimed that her "investigat[ion]" of the NRA's "non-profit status" will "help ensure another

life isn't lost to senseless gun violence." And, in 2021, Attorney General James again touted her

"work[] to *eliminate* the NRA" as the reason New Yorkers should elect her as Governor. Yet, she

now asks the Court to order the NRA to pay an independent compliance monitor and an

independent governance expert to oversee the "administration of the NRA" under this Court's and

are profound.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

her supervision. NYSCEF 646 at ¶¶ 635-643, pages 174-76. There can be no doubt that, under any circumstances, such state action is "likely to affect adversely the ability of [an advocacy group] and its members to pursue their collective effort to foster beliefs which they admittedly have the right to advocate" and places a "substantial restraint" on the exercise of their First Amendment rights. NAACP v. Alabama, 357 U.S. 449, 462-63 (1958). Here, given the NYAG's demonstrated animus towards the NRA's constitutionally protected speech, the First Amendment implications

**DUE PROCESS** 

18. The causes of action asserted against the NRA in the Complaint, and related requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA, ought to be barred and should be dismissed under the United States Constitution to the extent they seek to enjoin the NRA from soliciting charitable donations because such relief would violate the substantive guarantees of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE

19. The causes of action asserted against the NRA in the Complaint, and related requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA, ought to be barred and should be dismissed under the United States Constitution to the extent they seek to enjoin the NRA from soliciting charitable donations because such relief would violate the "dormant" or ("negative") Commerce Clause, Article I, Section 8, Clause 3 of the United States Constitution, in that it presents an unlawful infringement and restraint on interstate commerce in violation of the Commerce Clause.

LACK OF STANDING BASED ON BIAS OR MALICIOUS OR BAD FAITH INTENT

Plaintiff lacks standing to assert her claims and seek relief against the NRA, 20. because, among other things, due to her bias against defendant(s) or her malicious or bad faith

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

intent to injure the NRA, she cannot fairly and adequately represent those on whose behalf she brings her claims, such as her claim under EPTL 8-1.4(m).

#### COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL/RES JUDICATA

21. One or more claims or allegations asserted, or remedies sought, in whole or in part, is barred by collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.

#### FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM

22. The Complaint fails to state a cause of action or claim upon which relief can be granted. For instance, the first sentence of EPTL 8-1.4(m)—the statute pursuant to which Plaintiff asserts the First Cause of Action—does not give rise to a purported claim for injunctive relief "to ensure proper administration of any trust, corporation or other relationship to which this section applies." Rather, that statutory language merely gives the Attorney General standing to pursue causes of action that arise under—and seek relief authorized by—other statutes or law. Separately, even if the sentence could be interpreted to give rise to a cause of action, it does not authorize the specific injunctive relief that the NYAG seeks. In fact, under the Expressio unius est exclusio alterius principle reiterated in Spitzer v. Grasso, 42 A.D.3d 126, 135, passim. (App. Div. 2007), because the comprehensive statutory scheme here expressly provides for the appointment of a receiver and a multitude of other express types of relief—but not the appointment of an independent compliance monitor or an independent governance expert—the applicable statutory scheme implicitly precludes the NYAG from seeking the relief she seeks. For the Attorney General to seek the appointment of an independent compliance monitor or an independent governance expert violates the fundamental principles of separation of powers. In addition, the Court has no authority to issue the mandatory injunctive relief the NYAG seeks.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

ESTOPPEL, REGULATORY ESTOPPEL, WAIVER, LACHES

23. Plaintiff's claims and related requests for remedial action and other relief against

the NRA are barred, in whole or in part, by the doctrines of estoppel, regulatory estoppel, waiver,

and/or laches. As an example, on September 29, 2022, Assistant Attorney General Steven

Shiffman, in obtaining a denial of the NRA's motion to dismiss the First Cause of Action,

represented to the Court that although the NYAG seeks the appointment of an independent

compliance monitor, the NYAG does not seek the appointment of an independent compliance

monitor who would report to the Attorney General. Transcript of Oral Argument on September

29, 2022 at 61:13-15 ("The monitor is a different level of scrutiny. The monitor does not report to

the Attorney General, the monitor will report to the Court."). On this and other bases, the NYAG

is estopped from seeking, as it attempts to do in Paragraph 643 of the Complaint, the "appointment

of an independent compliance monitor with responsibility to report to the Attorney General."

**UNCLEAN HANDS** 

24. Plaintiff's claims and related requests for remedial action and other relief against

the NRA are barred, in whole or in part, by Plaintiff's unclean hands.

SELECTIVE ENFORCEMENT OF NEW YORK LAW

25. Plaintiff's claims and related requests for remedial action and relief against the

NRA are barred, in whole or in part, because Plaintiff has engaged in selective enforcement of

New York's laws, including New York's Non-Profit Corporations Law and New York's Estates

Powers and Trusts Law, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States

Constitution and in violation of the New York State Constitution.

ILLEGAL RETALIATION FOR EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OF FREEDOMS OF SPEECH

26. Plaintiff's claims and related requests for remedial action and other relief against

the NRA are barred, in whole or in part, because Plaintiff has instituted this action to retaliate

of the First Amendment and the New York State Constitution.

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

against the NRA and its members for their exercise of their right to freedom of speech, in violation

#### ILLEGAL SUPPRESSION OF POLITICAL SPEECH

27. Plaintiff's claims and related requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA are barred, in whole or in part, because Plaintiff's investigation and claims against the NRA were instituted based on the NRA's political viewpoint, and conducted for the purpose of suppressing the NRA's political speech.

## ILLEGAL RETALIATION FOR EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OF FREEDOMS OF ASSOCIATION

28. Plaintiff's claims and related requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA are barred, in whole or in part, because Plaintiff has instituted this action to retaliate against the NRA and its members for their exercise of their right to freedom of association, in violation of the First Amendment and the New York State Constitution.

## PLAINTIFF'S ACTION IS MOTIVATED BY HER POLITICAL ANIMUS AGAINST THE NRA

29. Plaintiff's claims and related requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA are barred, in whole or in part, because Plaintiff has instituted this action to as a result of her animus against the NRA, whom she views as a political enemy.

#### STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

30. Plaintiff's claims and related requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA are barred, in whole or in part, by the applicable statute of limitations and other and equitable and statutory time limitations.

#### LACK OF MATERIALITY

31. Plaintiff's claims and related requests for remedial action and other relief against the NRA on its claims of alleged material statements that were untrue in public filings fail because

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

the alleged misstatements or omissions were not material and, separately, because omissions are not actionable under the statutes on which the NYAG relies.

#### FAILURE TO ADD NECESSARY AND INDISPENSABLE PARTIES

32. The relief the NYAG seeks is barred due to a failure to sue and add necessary and indispensable parties whose presence is required to seek the relief the NYAG seeks.

#### **EXTRA-TERRITORIALITY**

33. The relief the NYAG seeks is barred in part to the extent the statutes upon which she relies do not apply extra-territorially outside the State of New York.

## THE NYAG DOES NOT ALLEGE THAT THE NRA HOLDS PROPERTY FOR CHARITABLE PURPOSES IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK

34. The relief the NYAG seeks is barred because Plaintiff does not allege that the NRA holds property for charitable purposes in the State of New York.

## THE NYAG DOES NOT ALLEGE THAT THE NRA ADMINISTERS PROPERTY FOR CHARITABLE PURPOSES IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

35. The relief the NYAG seeks is barred because the NYAG does not allege that the NRA administers property for charitable purposes in the State of New York.

\*\*\*

- 36. The NRA reserves its right to amend its Answer and/or to add any additional affirmative and/or other defenses for which a sufficient basis may be determined at a latter point in these proceedings. The NRA adopts and incorporates by reference any defenses and affirmative defenses asserted by any other defendant in this action, to the extent such defense applies to the NRA, and reserves the right to assert any other defense that may become available or appear during the discovery proceedings or otherwise in this case.
- 37. The NRA intends to require Plaintiff to carry her burden of proof on every element of each of her claims. The NRA, therefore, reserves the right to assert by motion or at trial denials

FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022 11:56 PM

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 889

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

as to Plaintiff's ability to prove the required elements of any or all claims. In the event that any affirmative defense asserted by the NRA is determined by the Court to be a denial rather than an affirmative defense, the burden of proof shall not shift to the NRA on such matters merely because the matter has been pleaded as an affirmative defense rather than a denial.

Dated: November 2, 2022

By: /s/ Svetlana Eisenberg
William A. Brewer III
wab@brewerattorneys.com
Svetlana M. Eisenberg
sme@brewerattorneys.com
Blaine E. Adams
bea@brewerattorneys.com

### **BREWER, ATTORNEYS & COUNSELORS**

750 Lexington Avenue 14th Floor New York, New York 10022 Telephone: (212) 489-1400

Facsimile: (212) 751-2849

COUNSEL FOR THE NATIONAL RIFLE ASSOCIATION OF AMERICA

COUNTY CLERK 11/02/2022

INDEX NO. 451625/2020

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/02/2022

VERIFICATION

Svetlana M. Eisenberg, an attorney admitted to practice in the courts of the State of New

York and not a party to this action, hereby affirms the following to be true under the penalties of

perjury, pursuant to CPLR § 2106:

I am counsel for The National Rifle Association of America in this action. I have read the

NRA's Amended Answer to the Second Verified Amended Complaint.

To the extent I have personal knowledge of the matters alleged, I know them to be true.

To the extent I do not have personal knowledge of the matters alleged, I believe them to be

true. The grounds for my belief are, among other things, documents (including those furnished to

me by my client), discussions with my client's officers, directors, employees and other counsel,

and review of various witnesses' testimony.

The reason why this verification is not made by the National Rifle Association of America

is that the Association is not in the county where I have my office.

Date: November 2, 2022

New York, New York

/s/ Svetlana M. Eisenberg

Svetlana M. Eisenberg

Page 169

173 of 173